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Indian chief helped Ingersoll select town site
BY RENE MCKNIGHT

Almost everyone knows how the United 
States was settled; about the Mayflower and 
Plymouth Rock; how the Indians befriended 
the American pioneers and taught them 
survival in an unknown wilderness. But few 
know how this town was settled almost two 
centuries ago, or how Thomas Ingersoll 
chose the site for his town on the advice of 
famed Indian Chief Joseph Brant.

In 1793 when Governor Simcoe was 
offering land for 6d. sterling per acre (12 
cents), Thomas Ingersoll decided to venture 
to Canada. Major Ingersoll was to bring 40 
settlers to Canada who would each receive 
200 acres of land and he would get a 66,000 
tract of land.

Choosing the site, which became known as 
Oxford-on-the-Thames, was not difficult for 
the major. Years prior to the move, he and 
Chief Brant had met in New York where the 
Indian chief urged him to settle in Canada. 
When he finally took Chief Brant’s advice, 
the Indian had six of his men choose a site 
for settlement, an area known as La 
Tranche, now the Thames.

There is some speculation that Major 
Ingersoll had been to the region at an earlier 
time with his daughter, Laura Ingersoll 
Secord.

Shortly after Thomas Ingersoll had settled 
the area, Governor Simcoe was removed 
from office and the land grants he had so 
graciously given away were reneged by the 
British, who wanted more money for the 
property.

Discouraged, Thomas Ingersoll, in 1805, 
left the community he had helped to settle 
and moved first to Etobicoke, then to Credit 
River, where he died. Major Ingersoll did 
not. however, leave without making his 
mark. Not only had he settled a community 
but also fathered the first white child born in 
this area, two years before he left.

In 1817, when the threat of American 
invasion had ended, Charles Ingersoll 
bought back his family farm, which his 
father had left in disgust. He sent his 
17-year-old brother James, to re-establish 
the ramily roots in the community.

Squire James Ingersoll, son of the town's founder and 
the first white man born in the area.

When James arrived in town, he found his 
family home in shambles. While brother 
Charles kept himself busy as the county 
Postmaster, James repaired and rebuilt his 
birth place.

Charles Ingersoll was well-liked in his 
community and was the town magistrate, 
Commissioner of Court of Request, and 
twice served terms in Parliament. In fact, 
he was so well liked, that villagers at one 
time named the community the Village of 
Charles, in his honor.

Charles Ingersoll died in 1832 when a 
cholera epidemic swept through the town. It 
claimed his son’s life as well.

In accordance with his will’s request, the 
town was renamed Ingersollville, until 
September 12, 1851 when it became the 
Village of Ingersoll.

Following in his brother’s footsteps, 
James assumed the position of magistrate 
in 1834, at the age of 33. James Ingersoll held 
the position of Postmaster and managed a 
store until 1843.

The Ingersoll family originated in Eng­
land. Brothers John and Richard moved to 
Massachusetts in the early 1600s, where the 
family remained until Thomas moved in 
1793. Although none of the Ingersoll family 
descendants living in the nearby cities of 

Ingersoll's daughter,
chose to leaue her father's settlement
BY RENE MCKNIGHT

Laura Secord is no doubt best associated 
with candies and other assorted sweets. 
Although her likeness graces chocolate 
boxes found almost everywhere, history 
students will remember Laura Secord for 
her heroic efforts at the battle of Beaver 
Dam, where she aided Canadians in the War 
of 1812.

According to historian Emma Currie, 
Laura had visited Oxford-on-the-Thames 
with her father Thomas Ingersoll, when he 
was first attempting to settle the area. When 
Laura Ingersoll and her father returned to 
Massachussetts to bring the rest of the 
family to his new found settlement, Laura 
decided to remain in Queenston.

At the age of 18, she operated a tavern in 
Queenston called the Ingersoll Tavern. 
Shortly afterwards, she met and married 
James Secord, who came from a family of 
United Empire Loyalists.

Within a few years of their marriage, 
hostile feelings between the British and 
Americans turned to war, with United 
States lashing out at Canada.

Under the command of Sir Isaac Brock, 
the Empire was quite safe, with Brock 
winning battles on many occasions. Then 
came the battle at Queenston Heights, 
where the domineering Brock was shot and 
killed by an American sniper, and James 
Secord, who helped to carry the general off 
the battle field, was himself wounded.

Billeting soldiers was a common practise 
of the Americans. Viewing a small loyalist 
family with an injured father as harmless, 

London and Windsor. Joyce Brown (nee: 
Ingersoll) the great, great, great grand­
daughter of the settler, lives in Oxford 
Centre and owns a home on the path Major 
Ingersoll travelled when looking for this 
settlement.

Laura Secord,

the soldiers chose the Secord home as a 
rooming place.

One evening the American fighters invited 
Colonel Boerstler to the Secord home and 
selected Laura to make the meal. Accus­
tomed to Queenston life, the soldiers talked 
freely of their battle plans. Overhearing 
their conversation, Laura knew the outcome 
of a planned ambush at Beaver Dam 
depended on her.

Originally she had planned to walk to a 
town nearby where her brother Charles 
resided. But Charles was too ill to make the 
tract to Beaver Dam so Laura continued on 
her way.

The frail woman had to cross 20 miles of 
untracted land and unbridged streams, 
which was held by the Americans, before 
she reached her destination.

She was greeted by Indians who were 
aiding General Jam es FitzGibbon, the man 
Laura was seeking out. Immediately, they 
took her to the general where Laura relayed 
the story of the planned attack.

Because of her heroic efforts, the Battle of 
Beaver Dam was easily won by the 
Canadian force, which had 50 regulars and 
440 Mohawk Indians fighting. The Amer­
icans had a band of 542 regulars.

After James died, Laura was left penni­
less ano it wasn’t until her 85th year her 
heroic deeds were recognized.

In 1860, when the Prince of Wales, Edward 
VII, visited Canada, he heard of her efforts 
in the war and bestowed her with a gift of 100 
pounds of gold.

Laura Secord died in her 93rd year at 
Chippewa, on October 17, 1868.

USED 
CARS

1978 BUICK CENTURY 2 DR
*  V-6, automatic, power 

steering & brakes, 2 tone
*  silver. One only. Only
*  57,000 km. ONLY 
♦ $3777.:

1983 UNCOLN TOWN CAR
4 door, keyless entry, head­
lamp, convenience system, 
plus much more

1982 PONTIAC
GRAND IE MANS

$17,500
4 door, nicely equipped. Local
trade in. ONLY $6999.
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The early days in Cheesetown
BY TOM DURALIA

About 134-years-ago, Hiram and Lydia 
Ranney first began marketing their cheese 
successfully.

The couple set up a 50-acre farm in the 
Salford area in 1834, and as with many 
pioneer families, had been making small 
batches of cheese for their own use 
whenever possible.

On some of the larger farms, where more 
cheese was made than could be eaten by the 
family, that surplus was sold.

During the first five years the Ranney’s 
lived in Canada, Mrs. Ranney taught at a 
local school house, becoming the first 
documented teacher in the area, while her 
husband diligently worked at clearing his 
land and building a cattle herd.

By the 1850s, the Ranney farm had grown 
from 50 to 700 acres and they had a sizeable 
herd of cattle from which Mrs. Ranney used 
her expertise to make cheese.

But though families such as the Ranneys 
and the Wilsons, who lived about three miles 
south of Ingersoll, made cheese for others to 
buy, it wasn’t until Harvey Farrington 
moved to Oxford County that things really 
started to pick up.

Mr. Farrington was a cheesemaker in 
Herkimer County, New York. However, he 
was unhappy with the conditions that 
existed in the U.S. at the time, and after 
visiting Canada, found Norwich to be an 
ideal location to set up shop.

Oxford County was especially attractive 
to dairy-minded people because of its 
abundance of streams, its rolling hills and 
its natural shade.

Mr. Farrington sold his U.S. business and 
came to Norwich in 1863, where he began to 
erect a factory for the sole purpose of 
cheesemaking.

Mr. Farrington’s actions were about to 
revolutionize the cheese industry in Oxford, 
and before long factories were springing up 
all over the country.

There have been other claims made as to 
who actually had the first factory, but by 
1867 there were over 40, including branches, 
in Oxford County.

One of those factories was owned by 
James Harris, who built his just outside of 
Ingersoll on Highway 19 in 1865, the 
undisputed first factory in the Ingersoll 
section.

Mr. Harris was born in 1824, and during 
his teenage years often visited the Ranney 
household where he courted and eventually 
married their daughter, Julia. Early reports 
hint that it was these visits that provided 
him with the vision and insight into starting 
up the James Harris Factory.

Whereas Mr. Farrington moved the 
cheese industry with leaps by introducing 
the factory concept, Mr. Harris further 
refined that idea with branch factories, also 

This photo of the Mammoth Cheese was taken just before it was carted to New York State Fair in 1866.

Cheese Manufacturing Company.
And in 1867, a prestigious dairyman’s 

convention came to Ingersoll, which result­
ed in the formation of the Canadian 
Dairyman’s Association.

A plaque located at the post office 
commemorates Oxford County’s achieve­

who settled in Ingersoll in 1850, is attributed 
with getting Ingersoll known for its fine 
dairy products. He played an active role in 
the cheese industry as a buyer and exporter, 
and in 1865 purchased and prepared for 
shipment at Ingersoll, the first boxes of 
Ontario cheese that were exported to 

British market at a time when Canada’s 
direct trade with Europe had previously 
been confined to the selling of wood, fish and 
furs.

1866 was truly the beginning of the cheese 
export business, as more and more farmers 
were becoming involved with cheese, which 
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Thriving business section in the ISOOs
BY RENE MCKNIGHT

Ingersoll, by the 1800s. was a well 
established, thriving village. Businesses 
were frequently springing up and were quite 
successful.

The leading industry in town by 1855 was 
the Ingersoll Packing Co. Established by 
T.D. Miliar. The hog slaughtering operation 
was sold several times before it landed in 
the hands of Thomas Boyd who held onto the 
factory until 1925, when he shut it down.

In 1895 a business dealing with goods 
ranging from hosiery and dress good to 
furniture and carpets were formed. It was 
operated and owned by J.J. Jollinrake.

A century ago Ingersoll was home to 
many newspapers the first being establish­
ed in 1853. The Ingersoll Chronicle was 
owned by J.S. Gurnett.

The Noxon Farm Implement Co. was 
started in 1856 and within 15 years the 
industry had 100 workers However, when 
the first World War began many of the goods 
which were shipped overseas were lost and 
by 1925 James Noxon was forced to close his 
doors.

Canada's first milk condencing factory 
was established in Ingersoil in 1899 St. 
Charles Condensing Co. was located on King 
Street

In 1877 Wilson and Robertson started up a 
hardware business on King Street. A basket 
factory was established in Ingersoll in 1903. 
It manufactured crates, boxes and fruit 
baskets which were in great demand in the 
Niagara Fruit District.

In 1905 the Canada Glove and Mitten 
factory opened a branch in town. Due to the 
great demand of their products, the business 
expanded only a few years after it opened. 
Some of Ingersoll’s older residents can still 
recall sitting in the store while the 
salesperson fitted gloves to their hands.

F.W. Staples began a machinist operation 
in town in the early 1900’s. He repaired 
automobiles, bicycles and machines with his 
skilled service.

About the same time Ingersoll had two 
cigar factories established. One was owned 
by John Frezell, the other by Andrew Smith.

Most of those businesses 
are now only memories

Thames Street south from *he King Street intersection n the early i?oos.

When larger factories opened in London, the 
Ingersoll plants closed.

The Gas Light Co. of 1872 first supplied the 
Noxon Factory on Thames Street. In 1891 it 
had a small electric light plant which 
operated out of Centerville.

Dominion Telephone System installed its 
first phones in Ingersoll, making Ingersoll 
the first community in Canada to have a 
telephone exchange installed, which was in 
1880.

By the early 1900s Ingersoll had six barber 
shops and several blacksmith shops as well.

An important industry in the late 1800s 
was the Ellis Furniture Company owned by 
A.H. Ellis. It was first known as the Hault 
Manufacturing Co. but the second year of its 
establishment Mr. Ellis became a partner.

A four storey building which produced 

about 400 pianos annually was built in town 
in 1887 and was called the Evans Bros. Piano 
Co. The industry was located where 
Fleischer and Jewett Car Sales Lot and 
garage now stands.

There were also several small businesses 
around town in the early 1900s. F.A. Waters 
Jewellers was established in 1890. The 
business which was began by Mr. Waters 
was operated by his son during its later 
years.

H.W. Healy began a grocery store in 1899; 
Manning Bookstore was began in the early 
1900’s and Brassey’s Fruit Stand was also 
established around this time.

In the 1790s, Thomas Ingersoll planted the 
seeds that would root and grow to become 
Ingersoll; a community which today bears 
little resemblance to the wilderness in which 

Mr. Ingersoll first settled. Schools, 
churches, a hospital, a sports arena, and 
businesses have all been born since then.

None of the community’s first businesses 
still exist. But, there are or were businesses 
established in the 1800s or early 1900s, that 
certainly made their mark on Ingersoll and 
will be remembered by many.

INGERSOLL MARKET
In the late 1950s. Ingersoll Market was a 

beehive of activity with gram, mutton and 
oeef being the main items of trade. Many of 
Ingersoll’s older residents will recall the 
market as it grew and thrived in the early 
and mid 1900s

The market did not remain popular 
however, and was eventually closed down. A 
few years ago a number of local and area 
residents saw the need for the rebirth of an 
outdoor market and set the wheels in 
motion for a Saturday morning mar l<et This 
market still operates in the Old Town Hal) 
and n market square
JOHN MORROW M NE AND SCREW

This compand located on the corner of 
Thames and Catherine Streets, was at one 
rime one of Ingersoll’s busiest industries ft 
was founded n Ingersoll in 1887 and 
produced bolts and screws. In 1974 the 
company was purchased by Ivaco Indus 
ries and the production of cold reading 

steel parts was moved to Ingersoil Fast­
eners in the south part of ingersoil. where a 
new plant was built.

Before the Ivaco purchase, the firm 
expanded to produce hot pressed nuts of 
various sizes. This production line operated 
out of a bulling located near the railroad 
tracks, east of Thames Street north between 
Mutual and Bruce Streets.

NOXON IMPLEMENT COMPANY
Owned by James Noxon, the Noxon Farm 

Implement Company started on a small 
scale in 1856 but rapidly expanded to 
become a major employer in the commun­
ity, and to meet the increasing demand for 
farm labor saving machinery.

When World War I swept the globe, 
however, many losses were incurred in the 
sinking of boats loaded with Noxon Farm 
Implements going to foreign markets and in 
1923 the company ceased operations.

DAVIES PLUMBING 
AND HEATING
Roy, Debbie and 
Paul Davies are 
proud to be part of 
Ingersoll’s 
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I DEPENDABILITY ■ 
! YOU’VE GROWN ■ 
■ TO COUNT ON! ;

BY WES ROCHESTER

Ingersoll's Old Town Hall

Town hall controversy 
prolonged construction 
almost 20 years

! THERE IS MORE TO !
! CANADIAN TIRE ;
!■  THAN TIRES! I!
। * Hardware i
i *Sporting goods J
| * Housewares ■
। *Everything for the J
■■  “ Do-it-Yourselfer” ।!
! Fast, efficient service for all 
I your automobile needs.
j (Auto parts & service)

The 1856 February fire that blazed most of 
the town core also marked the beginning of 
controversy that would surround the build­
ing of a new town hall.

The question of where Ingersoll would 
build its second town hall was only settled by 
the victory achieved at the election of 
council in 1857 by those who favored the old 
King Street site.

Controversy was first stirred anew with 
the warm weather that May of that year 
brought. Construction was halted when 
council heard that the land title was invalid.

However, this rumour, derived from local 
banker Charles E. Chadwick, proved to be 
unfounded. Public apology through a village 
newspaper quailed concerns for the hall’s 
construction for a while, but not for long.

By August a new threat sounded the alarm 
when a new map of Oxford County reached 
the shelves of local shops. George Tremaine 
of Kingston chose to border the map with 
engravings of important buildings in the 
county, among these being a view of the new 
town hall.

Village folk were horrified by what they 
saw, and quickly dubbed the monstrosity a 
“slab-sided Dutch barn” the design of which 
better suited the age of past great­
grandfathers.

Council expressed its dissatisfaction with 
the quality of work completed on the 
building, feeling that a large part of the 
brick was unfit for use. Contractor William 
McLean Long assured council the problem 
could be rectified but that its design was the 
fault of architect George Brown.

Brown defended the design by stating that 
his plans were mis-read by the contractor. 
To appease the conflict, a new architect 
from a modern school was hired to re-design 
the building.

Alterations to the structure required 
building beyond the property line, costing an 
estimated $760. S.S. Pomroy, a London 
capitalist, who owned the land adjacent to 
the site, threatened council with an action in 
chancery if the proposed construction was 
completed.

Pomroy objected to the encroachments on 
the King Street road allowance which this 
new design made. His argument was 
supported by local inn-keeper Absolem 
Daly, whose hotel remains today as Marco’s 
Landing, formerly the Ingersoll Inn.

In the light of removing the building part 
and parcel to another site, Pomroy let the 
matter drop. Two years after the first was 
destroyed by fire, its late Norman Period 
style replacement was finally completed in 
the spring of 1858.

Attempts to create a second railroad that 
would reduce freight costs caused one of the 
town’s legal firms to attempt to force 
council to remove all obstructions on the 
King Street road allowance. This meant that 
the front of the hall would have to be 
removed.

Plans called for shifting the entrance to 
the auditorium from the middle to the front, 
calling for a high arched ceiling. As well, the 
bell tower was shifted from its old position to 
one closer to the front. In early August, 1876, 
council was finally informed that the 
building of the town hall, which actually 
began in 1857, was completed.



Section 2, Page 6_________________________________________________________ The Ingersoll Times, Wed., July 25, 1984

Old and new businesses 
are part of town’s history

NEW IDEA FURNACES LTD.
This company was established in Ingersoll 

in 1924 and for many years operated from a 
building formerly known as Waterworth 
Woolen Mills. New Idea Furnaces were 
shipped across the nation until it ceased 
operations in the late 1950s or early 1960s.

A number of Ingersoll businesses have 
been operating for years and years, as have 
a number of Ingersoll industries. Here are 
just a few of them.

ZURBRIGG’S BAKERY
One of the oldest businesses in town, still 

in existance, is Zurbrigg’s Bakery, located 
on the west side of Thames Street. The 
business opened its doors in 1894, and over 
the decades, has managed to continue 
to please many a sweet-tooth.

The business was started by Neil Mol- 
colin. Several owners followed, but on 
December 11,1908, Samuel G. Zurbrigg took 
over the business. A partnership was 
formed in May of 1939 and Zurbrigg’s 
Bakery Limited Company came into being 
from then until May 8, 1943.

Zurbrigg’s Bakery was originally located 
in the McLeod and McBain Grocery, which 
is now the location of Femalea Flowers. In 
1936 it relocated to its present home.

In 1955, Zurbrigg’s sold its nine bread 
routes. Since 1894, however, they’ve still be 
able to produce breads, cookies, cakes, pies, 
tarts . . . .  and almost anything else that is 
worth every calorie it contains.
INGERSOLL MACHINE AND TOOL CO.
According to the book, ‘Ingersoll Our 

Heritage,’ “ In 1913 a small factory was 
erected on the site of the present factory on 
King Street West, at the town’s limits. This 
small plant was erected by a company for 
the manufacture of a brand of soap called 
“Fun to Wash” soap. This company did not 
exist long and brooms were then made in the 
building before the plant was purchased by 
Messrs. E.A. Wilson and Charles Shortt in 
1914. In 1915, a company was formed and 
named Ingersoll Machine and Tool.

The size of the factory was extended to 
have a floor space of 8,000 square feet. This 

was a two storey building of solid white 
brick walls with steel. The plant, at various 
times, made additions until it reached a 
floor capacity of over 80,000 square feet. 
Nagle and Mill, Ingersoll contractors, were 
the early builders of a large part of the 
factory.

“Starting with 30 employees, the business 
of this company steadily increased until the 
employees numbered 350. This company 
enjoys an international wide trade. It 
specializes in the manufacture of steering 
gear assemblies for many makes of 
automobiles and boats.

“At various times it specialized in car 
starters, steering gears, millimetre shells, 
truck axel parts, house trailer parts and 
machine parts. Mr. Shortt did not remain 
long with the company but Mr. Wilson 
continued as president until 1952.”

When Mr. Wilson retired, his son Harold 
took over the reigns, and when he retired, 
his son Ernest became president.

The company is still a major employeer in 
the community.

FLEISCHER AND JEWETT
Following a World War I wartime 

friendship between P.T. Fleischer and Abe 
Jewett, the two decided to set up a business 
on King Street West, in 1920, to deal in 
battery service. They named it Ingersoll 
Auto Electric.

The business quickly expanded and in 
1923, they moved to the present site on 
Thames Street South. The business now 
includes complete auto servicing as well as 
being agents for General Motors.

Ted Fleischer and Bob Jewett purchased 
the business upon the deaths of their fathers, 
and continue to operate it.

First car owners
Harry Leigh and M.T. Buchanan were 

Ingersoll residence who each owned one of 
the first cars in town. By 1907 Ingersoll had 
five cars. Mr. Leigh also owned one of the 
first radio’s.

The first television in town was owned by 
Mr. Alcock.

Stone family business marked 85 years

William Stone, founder of William Stone Sons 
Limited.

In 1870, William Stone established one of 
the most essential farm businesses in 
western Ontario. Starting with a hide and 
wool business in Woodstock, in 1880, Arthur 
W. Stone became associated with his father 
and in 1907, J. Fred Stone joined the 

company as manager of the then new 
Ingersoll branch.

The company was incorporated under the 
name William Stone Sons Ltd. in 1911 and a 
fertilizer and rendering plant was built here 
in town. R.A. Stone became the manager of 
operations.

Six years later, the company extended the 
original plant and by 1926 the company had 
established its head office in Ingersoll.

It was the headquarters for commercial 
fertilizer which sold under the name of 
National Fertilizers.

By 1937 the plant had extended to make 
concentrate feeds known as National Qual­
ity Mix and it was during this time, the 
company opened a packing department for 
meat to be supplied to mink and fox 
ranchers.

In 1948 the rebuilding and extension of the 
plant made it one of the most modem in 
Canada, and one year later, in 1949, the 
company marked its 80th anniversary.

In 1955, Canadian Industries Limited took 
over the buiness, restricting it to fertilizers 
only, but last year, the company closed its 
Ingersoll plant, moving to its London office.

Hammond 
Xir Conditioning

& M ANUFACTURING L T D . ^

WE’RE PROUD OF 
OUR HERITAGE

The earliest evidence of a Memorial 
Business in Ingersoll is found on a 
monument in Norwich, Ont. engraved with 
"Ingersoll Monuments - 1856". In Newark 
Cemetery a Memorial was found engraved 
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Pork factory once a major employeer
BY RENE MCKNIGHT

When Ingersoll and the surrounding area 
was settled nearly 200-years-ago, less than 
100 people populated the town. Now. the 
year of Ontario s Bicentennial, the popula­
tion has swelled to 8.500. To look at Ingersoll 
today, it is hard to believe that only 
59-years-ago people feared the town might 
disappear when the towns' leading employ­
er shut its doors

In the mid 1800 s Ingersoii Packing Co 
was established by T D Millar who owned 
and operated the hog slaughter house The 
building, which is located where Ingersoll 
Cheese now stands, was then sold to James 
L. Grant and Co.

The new owners saw the need to increase 
business as the area s cheese industry grew 
Farmers in the area fed their hogs whey 
which resulted in fair-sized hogs. Overseas 
business was also on the rise.

In 1877 the business was sold to Thomas L. 
Boyd, an English man who exported the 
majority of his product to Liverpool and 
London, England By this time Ingersoll 
Packing Co had become Canada’s largest 
hog-related industry.

In 1925, Mr. Boyd unexpectantly ceased 
production at Ingersoll Packing Co. There 
was much speculation that the town would 
die since a large num bet of the townspeople 
were employed there.

When operating in full capacity the 
industry could kill as many as 5,000 hogs per 
week. The four storey hog pen located on 
Wonham Street was capable of holding 6,000 
live hogs.

Slaughtering the pigs was a daily task 
with the exception of Sundays. The animais 
after being driven into a pen, were hoisted a 
few feet in the air by a chain which held a 
hind leg, then the animals fatally stabbed. 
Following this, the carcass was passed 
aiong an iron track which was situated 
above a scalding water tank into which the 
hogs were placed.

The next step in the process was the 
scraping machine, which removed the 
majority of the animal's hair The remain­
ing hair was removed by hand by the

— ,—

workers. Next, the carcasses were placed in 
a burning furnace which singed them and 
left them smoked and brown The only 
remaining steps were the cleaning, cutting 
and the packaging of the pork.

Although there was a sewage system with 
a catch basin the offal would end up m the 
river. It was not unusual for those swim­
ming in the Thames to spot the animal waste 
in the river.

Much of the pork from the Packing Co 
was sent to England, with cheaper cuts 
being so id in town.

When farmers from a 30-mile radius 
brought hogs to the slaughter factory, the 
animals were weighed and farmers were 
given a weight ticket. Hogs brought in as 
much as 25 cents per pound in the early 
1900’s.

In the late 1890’s a refrigeration system

The top photo shows the interior of the pork factory 
and some of its employees. It was taken around 1900 
and includes: C.H. Sumner, Dip Hook, C.C.L 
Wilson, W.E Cragg. Mac Wallace and R I. Smith. 
The lower photo shows the outside of the factory.

( Photos courtesy of Gord Henry)

—

-
1

was installed at the factory. Ingersoll 
Packing Co used ice to store its pork and to 
keep it fresh while shipping it to Montreal 
and St. John

Mr. Boyd was quick to see the profits 
which were available in the cheese industry 
and brought cheddar making to the ware­
houses, which were located on the south side 
of Victoria Street West and al the intersec­
tion of Wonham Street, where Ingersoll 
Cheese Company is now located. At the 
outbreak of World War I the industry 
thrived because both cheese and pork were 
sent to allied forces

While Mr Boyd owned the Ingersoll 
Packing Co., it was run by C.C.L. Wilson and 
C.H Sumner. The cheese exporting section 
of the business was headed by V.H. Thomas.

By 1925 Ingersoll appeared to be in a 
desperate situation when the packing 
industry closed, out the following year 
Ingersoll Cream Cheese Company began 
production in the same building.

GLEDHILL EQUIPMENT
OWNED AND OPERATED BY A. GLEDHILL & SON INC.

IGLEDHILL EQUIPMENT!
PROUD TO BE PART OF 
INGERSOLL'S BICENTENNIAL 
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Waterhouse Woollen Mill

One of the many businesses in the early 1900s.

WE’RE STILL 
OLD FASHIONED 

ENOUGH
3 hB . " & ‘ «  

Fleischer & Jewettzs 1920 location next to old Skinner 
building on Charles West at the bottom of Oxford Street 
in Ingersoll.

To Believe Customer 
Satisfaction Comes First!

Fleischer & Jewett's present location at 70 Thames 
Street, S., in Ingersoll.
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Street names 
honor founder’s 
fam ily

Where do street names come from?
Here are just a few of the street names in 

town, and how the streets came to possess 
those names.

Charles Street is named after Charles 
Ingersoll.

Whiting Street was named after Sarah 
Whiting, who was Thomas Ingersoll’s third 
wife.

Noxon Street is named after James Noxon 
who founded an implement works, which 
closed shortly after World War I. Mr. 
Noxon’s home was also the first Alexandra 
Hospital.

Elisha Hall built the first brick house in 
Ingersoll and owned much of the property 
around the street now called Hall Street.

Colonel Wonham. a surveyor who laid out 
the town, had his name given to a street. 
Wonham Street Streets were also named 
after three of his children, Francis, Ann and 
Albert

Martha Tunis, the wife of Icabod Hall and 
the mother of Elisha Hall, saw Martha 
Street named after her. The Hall family 
once owned the land Martha Street is now 
situated on.

Merrit Street commemorates Charles 
Ingersoll’s wife, Anna Maria Merritt. Bond 
Street was named so to signify the 
relationship between the Merritt and Inger­
soll families.

Holcroft Street is named for Colonel 
Holcroft who came to Canada during the 
War of 1812 and was in charge of an Imperial 
regiment

Dufferin Street commemorates the visit of 
Lord and Lady Dufferin in 1874. Prior to that 
visit, the street was called Catherine Street 
in honor of Catherine Chadwick, who was 
the wife of C.E. Chadwick, an early mayor 
of Ingersoll.

Church Street was named so because it 
ran near three churches, the Methodist, 
Anglican and Presbyterian.

Harris Street was named after J.H. 
Harris, an early and prestigious cheese­
maker.

In the early part of the 1890s, F.w . Waters opened Ingersoll's first jewellery store on the main street. In the photo from left to right are: F.W. Waters, Hubert Hut, 
Florence Spencer (nee: Waters), Richard Rogerson and Frank Dundas. (Photo courtesy the Waters family)

Town gained 

cement sidewalks 

in 1891

1852 marked the year Ingersoll had its 
first village council.

Fifty-five miles of sidewalk was poured in 
town in 1891. The new sidewalks, made of 
stone, gravel and cement, were the first of 
their kind in Canada and was similar to 
those found in England.

Ingersoll’s first blacksmith shop came 
into being in 1802. It was owned and 
operated by John Uren.

Stillwell Samuel Smith was the first to 
open an Inn in town.

October 24, 1874 was the date of the first 
fair held in Ingersoll. It was held at the river 
flats between North Wonham and McKeand 
Streets.

James Ingersoll was the first white child 
born in Ingersoll. He was born in 1801.

The first gas produced in Ingersoll was at 
the Noxon Factory in 1872.

Bill Burnett 
F.I.I.C.

50 YEARS OF SERVICE!
THAT'S OUR TRADITION

WE’RE PEOPLE 
HELPING PEOPLE
THAT'S OUR PROMISE OF SERVICE 
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St. Charles Hotel, left, stood on the corner of Charles and Thames Streets.

Ingersoll once housed 15 hotels

Ingersoll at one time, was the home of as 
many as 15 hotels. It was a booming 
community, with the Old Stage Road, now 
King Street, being a busy and well 'ravelled 
path.

The Oxford Inn is thought to have been the 
first hotel built in the community. It was 
located at the corner of King and Mill 
Streets and was supposed to have been built 
m the 1790s.

The Royal Exchange Hotel, located on the 
south west corner of Charles and Thames 
Streets was opened in 1852. It was here the 
first election for village council was held.

The Prince of Wales Hotel was located on 
the west side of Thames Street, in the 

vicinity between Carr’s Book and China 
Shop and Zurbrigg’s Bakery. It opened in 
1828.

Twenty-odd years later, the Keating 
House, built in 1844, opened. It was located 
just south of where the Presbyterian Church 
now stands. It was first named the 
Commercial Hotel and later became known 
as the Red Onion, because all of its owners 
were readheaded with hot Irish tempers.

The Kirwin Hotel, first known as the 
Chamber Hotel then the Oxford House, was 
built in 1891-92 on the west side of Oxford 
Street, opposite Ingersoll’s present police 
station. It served the community until 1967 

when it was tom down.
The Adair Hotel, the Atlantic House and 

the Carroll House, along with the Royal 
Hotel, the McMurray Hotel, the Harmony 
Hall or Bummer’s Roost, and the Queens 
Hotel, were other hotels that once operated 
in this community. The Thompson House, 
the Lee Hotel or Dereham House, the 
Mansion House, or the Brandy Hotel, the 
Walker House, the McCarty House and the 
Trick’s Hotel, also existed.

Today, only Marco’s Landing (originally 
the Daly House) remains.

Daly House
The Daly House, built early in 1838 on the 

site now occupied by Marco’s Landing, 
formerly the Ingersoll Inn. was visited by 
many colorful characters of the last 
century.

Before a wandering spark from a burning 
trash heap found its way to the hotel in 1855. 
the log building built by Absolem Daly was a 
friendly meeting place, a place for Indians 
to come and trade their goods, and a 
welcoming abode for those wearied from 
journey on the Old Stage Road, which ran 
right past its front doors.

But as was said, in 1855 a spark jumped 
from across the road, ignited a vulnerable 

curtain, and most of the hotel was destroy­
ed.

In 1857, at the same time as the Oide Town 
Hall was being erected, the Ingersoll Inn 
was constructed on the site of the Daly 
House.

Here, in the yellow brick building, the 
historic figures of such persons as Sir John 
A Macdonald. Sir Wilfrid Laurier, show­
man P.T. Barnum and Thomas D’Arcy 
McGee made appearances. Along with these 
were countless personalities from the 
Chautauqua travelling shows and in the 
years prior to and during the American 
Civil War (1861-1865). many a plot and 
scheme was discussed among patrons of the 
Inn.

Many of these meetings were said to have 
involved members of the anti-slavery 
faction from the United States, such as 
Abolitionist John Brown, who championed 
the cause until his death by hanging in 1859, 
in Charlestown. Virginia He had been found 
quilty of treason, conspiracy with slaves to 
rebel and first degree murder.

The location of the Ingersoll Inn, half-way 
between Detroit and Niagara Falls, made it 
an ideal stopover point and meeting place

Now Marco’s Landing for the past few 
years, the building still retains its original 
look.

Open 7 Days A Week 
63 Charles St. E.

GIGI’S PIZZA
§ RESTAURANT 

NEW LUNCH MENU PLUS 
NEW EVENING ATTRACTIONS

-Lunch Special Mon - Fri

EAT IN OR TAKE OUT 
Licensed under L.L.B.O. 485-2681

DINING HOUSE 
AND TAVERN

For Fine Dining With Friends 
Come into the Venus

FULLY
AIR CONDITIONED

215 Thames St. S. 485-1612

•Businessmen’s
Luncheon

-Steaks & Seafood
-Chops

BANQUET FACILITIES

DINO’S 
RESTAURANT RESTHURRNT

-Breakfast
-Lunch
-Dinner
-Snacks
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Three R ’s taught 200 years ago in Ingersoll schools
Princess Anne School has undergone a 
facelift, with more classrooms and a staff 
lounge, along with storage facilities, added.

The town’s Catholic Separate School, 
also received a facelift in 1969.

Westfield Public School was built in 1964.

J 2 V  t  J '

Discipline in the early days created 
problems at times. With only one teacher 
for an entire community school, it is easy to 
understand the difficulties these teachers 
might have faced. Attendance could not be 
enforced. During the summer months the 
older children would stay home to help out 
on farms.

In early records of school days in the 
1800s, it was said the older children would 
create additional holidays for themselves 
sometimes. When the teacher wasn’t look­
ing, older students would sneak out of the 
building and jam the chimney so the school 
room would fill with smoke and school would 
have to be dismissed for the day.

Progress and technology have had a great 
impact on schooling. Instead of slates, the 
children use computers and have plenty of 
texts. The length of the school day has 
increased but the fundamentals taught at 
schools have remained the same for more 
than 100 years.

BY RENE MCKNIGHT

In the early 1800s, when Ingersoll had only 
20 families, school lessons were conducted 
in two Thames Street homes for a few hours 
each afternoon. The three R’s, reading, 
’riting, and ’rithmetic, were the main 
subjects of the school years.

In 1812, West Oxford County had its first 
school house built. It was on the Old Stage 
Road and children walked as far as four 
miles to attend.

Ingersoll’s first school house opened in 
1852 and had 150 area children attending. 
The two storey Union School House was 
opened 10-years-later. There were, at that 
time, several denominational schools.

With a black board made of smooth 
lumber painted black, and a few text books, 
teachers taught pupils whose parents could 
afford to send their children to school. Those 
attending sat on wooden benches, with a 
slate and pencil as their only learning tools. 
Before ink was available in stores, local 
people would make it and sell it to those 
needing it.

On the corner of Alma Street a small 
building was erected. Three of the rooms in 
this structure were used for high school 
purposes while the other served as a public 

attendance of 45, but within 10 years, that 
figure doubled and in 1886, the school was 
large enough to be considered a collegiate.

At a cost of $2,000, St. Joseph’s School was 
built in 1867. Five years later, the yellow 
brick house, Central Public School, was 
constructed. It stood there until 1920 when 
Victory Memorial School was built in its 
place, following World War I.

A’ four room school, which included a 
kindergarten, was established in 1955 and 
was named Princess Anne. This past year

Top photo: Central Public 
School, now' Victory 
Memorial School.

Middle photo: Ingersoll 
District Collegiate around 
1910.
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Town Library 

cost $400  to build

in 1880
In 1880 a public meeting was held in the 

Council Chambers and another library 
began. James Noxon was elected president. 
A grant of $400 was received from the 
province on the understanding that they 
would provide a public library, reading 
room, evening classes and a scientific 
museum. The municipality contributed 
some funds and subscribers paid $1.00 per 
annum.

Rooms were secured at a rental of $50 and 
the librarian, Mr. Adkins was paid $50 a 
year.

The struggles of the committee over the 
next few years to keep the venture going are 
recorded in the minutes. To raise funds the 
committee sponsored concerts and excur­
sions. A trip to Toronto on Civic Holiday, 
1882, brought a profit of $70; a concert by the 
Jubilee Singers, $30; but a concert of local 
talent brought a loss of $3.99.

In 1880 under the chairmanship of G.W. 
McDiarmid, the board bowed to the request 
of the W.C.T.U. to set up a free reading room 
and recreation room and even entertained 
the thought of a gymnasium. A piano was 
installed and rules drawn up for its use. The 
amusement committee purchased three sets 
of checkers, two of “pig in clover” , one of 
dominoes, one of authors, one “go bang” , 
one parlour croquet and board, one air gun, 
etc.

In 1890 the Mechanics Institute became a 
Free Public Library. The Municipality 
contributed $454 to this venture. Several 
pages of minutes were filled with regula­
tions as to the use of the library.

In 1898 the library was located in the 
Royal Bank Building and in 1899 moved to 
the Miller building on Thames Street. A 
crisis over fuel in 1903 resulted in closing the 
reading room part of the week and in 1907 
the library was closed on account of small

These men are preparing to put down Ingersoll's new road — a brick one. This photo was taken in the early 1900s.

pox.
The Library Board applied for a Carnegie 

grant and in 1910 the present library 
building on Charles Street was opened. The 
lot was purchased from the Merchants Bank 
for $1, and the library building was built and 
furnished for $9,000.

Mrs. Court was the librarian for 15 years 
followed by Janet McKellar in 1908. Irene 
Cole of Guelph, succeeded her in 1931, and 
Betty Crawford followed Miss Cole. Since 
the retirement of Miss Crawford in 1971 the 
Librarians have been David Hall (1972-73), 
Linda Birtwell (1973-75), and Bonnie Gray 
(1975-78). Gail Jeffrey succeeded Miss Gray 
in 1978.

In 1967 Ingersoll Public Library complet­
ed major changes in a renovation program 

sparked by the Centennial activity. The 
interior of the library was opened out into a 
single floor space and area for reading or. 
reference. The color scheme is of white and 
light“colery” walls with a soft green carpet 
and drapes, comfortable chairs in tanger­
ine, yellow and red make spots of color. Mrs. 
Ross Kilgour, S. Underwood, Dr. J.A. 
Paterson and Madeleine Hamilton were the 
board members at this time.

In 1960 under the chairmanship of Percy 
J. Smith, a children’s library was establish­
ed in the basement. Extensive renovations 
were carried out in 1976 to the children’s 
section to make it more bright and cheerful. 
The walls were covered in panelling, the 
ceiling lowered, new light fixtures put in and 
carpeting.

Library resources have increased with the 
expansion of the Oxford County Library 
system and the Lake Erie Regional system.

In 1969 the Library became a branch of the 
Oxford County Library.

The circulation has risen to well over 
60,000 books. The library continues to 
provide a place for meetings of the Sketch 
Club and the Book Club. Before the 
basement was used as a Children’s Library, 
it was the home of such groups as the 
Photography Club, Naturalists, Little 
Theatre and many others.

For a number of years travelling exhibi­
tions of art were hung in the library and 
several times a year, exhibitions of local art 
were displayed.

. FOR THAT MOST SPECIAL OCCASION

A  
s p e c i a l ,  b o u g u e t

At Harry Shelton Flowers, 
Weddings Are Designed 

" Specifically With The 
Bride’s Thoughts In Mind.
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Mail services in Ingersoll since 1821
BY RENE MCKNIGHT

In the early 1800s. families were scattered 
across the country The Ingersoll family 
was stretched from Massachusetts to the 
Niagara Frontier, to Oxford County Visits 
from family and friends were few and far 
between, and letters were the main means 
of communication for the earliest settlers.

In 1821. four years after brothers Charles 
and James decided to return to the village 
which their father had established, the first 
Post Office in the county was set up. It was 
called Oxford Post.

The Ingersoll brothers operated this small 
mail service in one section of their general 
store, which was located on the comers of 
King and Thames Streets. Until 1843, James 
Ingersoll was the county Postmaster.

A FAMILY TRADITION
lono"

People have been shopping at 
Zurbrigg’s for over 76 years. The 
quality of our products and the 
friendliness of our staff have been 
constant since 1908.
Delicious confectioneries, special 
order birthday and shower cakes, 
wedding cakes for that special day, 
or fresh baked bread.

The year was 1837 and the Mackenzie 
rebellion was in full swing with many 
Ingersoll residents taking an active part in 
it It also marked the year James Ingersoll 
moved the post office to the comer of King 
and Market Streets. Following the rebellion, 
it was moved once again, this time to where 
the Royal Bank now stands.

Oxford Post came under the hands of a 
new Postmaster in 1847, when Daniel Phelan 
took over the position.

When Mr. Phelan retired, Charles Eli 
Chadwich assumed the position, only to be 
removed by the government in 1857.

Under the care of the new Postmaster. 
Joseph Thickle, Ingersoll had a new Post 
Office established where McNiven Insur­
ance now stands. Mr. Thickle served as 
Ingersoll Postmaster for 25 years, until his

120 Thames St., S., 
Ingersoll 
485-3310 

death in 1882. He 
was succeeded by 
Joseph Gibson.

A new Post Office 
was built at the 
corner of Thames 
and Charles Streets 
in 1898-99. the spot 
now the location of 
the Bank of Mon­
treal. It was opened 
in 1899, the same 
year Samuel Gibson 
succeeded his 
father to the posit­
ion of Postmaster.

Rural mail de­
livery began on 
December 13, 1911, 
while Samuel Gib­
son was in charge. 
Samuel Gibson was 
Postmaster for 50 
years.

This is the former Post 
Office. It was located on 
the site now occupied by 
the Bank of Montreal, at 
the corner of Thames and 
Charles Streets. This 
building was officially 
opened in 1899. In 1961 the 
Post Office moved to its 
present location on 
Charles Street West.

Robert Wark was next to take on the job 
and under his rule the Post Office building, 
which is used today, was built in 1960-61. The 
Charles Street office was officially opened 
in October 1961.

With the retirement of Mr. Wark, Herbert 
Egley was appointed Postmaster in 1964. 
Within a few months of his appointment, he 
introduced Ingersoll to letter carrier de­
livery.

Because the Post Office was closed 
Saturdays, a Sub-post Office was created in 
1969. Alf Boniface was appointed the 
Sub-Postmaster and carried out business

from his Thames Street store. When Mr. 
Boniface died in 1980, Myrna Ledgley took 
over the post.

In February of 1978, when Mr. Egley 
retired from the position as Postmaster, 
Morley Palen filled the spot. In the latter 
part of 1979, he left the job and Don McNiven 
was appointed Postmaster, a position which 
he still holds.

The Post Office is an operation which 
increased steadily as Ingersoll grew in 
population. 115-years-ago, in 1832, the Post 
Office’s revenue was L27, S7 and 5d, which 
today is the equivalent of $55.82. By 1982 that 
figure had increased to $368,926.

YOU NG'S PHARMACY
-DEPEND ON US

FERNLEA FLOWERS 
AND GIFTS

THIS WEEK'S 

SPECIAL
July 23 - 28th
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ROLL
106 Years

Oxford Mutual Fire Insurance
★ Fire ★Wind ★Liability ★Automobile

R.R. 4 Thamesford 285-2916

103 Years

INGERSOLL CHEESE CO.
A  Manufacturing Unit o f Anco Food Products Ltd. 

'Ingerso ll" "Anco" and '"Cherry H ill" - 
The Names Famous For Cheese

O ver 102 Years

Of Service To Ingersoll And The Oxford County Area

Sngergoll Memorials I t 6./^nfh
R .R .4  Authorized ‘ ROCK OF AGES" Dealer ’ OF *

In g e rs o ll V ^ r r r  /
485-3880

84 Years

Borden Co. Ltd.
Foods Division

273 K in g  S t.W ., In g e rs o ll 
485-3550

77 Years

g R O Y A L  BANK
Al Pacey, Manager

156 T h a m e s  St. S., In g e rs o ll 485-3710

76 Years

/ /  BAKERY LTD.

63 Years

Ingersoll Paper Box Co. Ltd.
•  Boxes •  Folding Cartons

K in g  St. W ., In g e rs o ll 485-1830

59 Years

R.McNiven and Sons Insurance 
Brokers Ltd.

161 T h a m e s  St. S., In g e rs o ll 
485-3190

57 Years

Ingersoll 421 Bell Street N5C 2P7 485-1910

55 Years

Bluebird Coach Lines
Charter and School Bus Service Bus Contracting 

S e rv in g  In g e rs o ll,  W o o d s to c k  a n d  O x fo rd  
288 W h it in g  S t., In g e rs o ll 485-3567

54 Years

JACK'S DEPARTMENT 
STORE

145 T h a m e s  S t., S. In g e rso ll  485-3270

5 0  Years
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HONOUR ROLL
38 Years

Your Extra Touch Florist
124 Tham es St.S., Ingerso ll 485-2180

38 Years

CANADIAN TIRE 
INGERSOLL ASSOCIATE

STORE
98 Mutual St. S. Ingersoll 485-3900

37 Years

Coyle and Greer Jewellers 
Ltd.

146 Tham es St. S., Ingerso ll 
485-2190

35 Years

Davies Plumbing
89 Avonlea St., Ingerso ll 

485-2450

34 Years

Roberts 6®, Co
122 Thames St.S. Ingersoll Phone 485-3895 

32 Years

McKim's Hardware

142 Tham es St.S., Ingerso ll 

24 Years

Crane Insurance Brokers
King S t.E ., R.R. 2 Ingerso ll 

Residence and Business 
485-1900

21 Years

ZGW
Owned and operated by Dale H urley

21 Years

LIONEL'S HAIRSTYLING
189 Thames St. S. Ingersol 

485-0450

18 Years

Jim’s Lawn & Garden Equipment
Sales & Service

151 Ingersoll Rd. Woodstock 539-3472

17 Years

Thorntons of Woodstock 
The Home of 

Quality Sight & Sound

512 Dundas St. 537^6611

17 Years

"Home o f the A ffo rd a b le  Ford 
Since 1966"

325 K ing St. W ., Ingerso ll
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HONOUR ROLL
14 Yean

TONY & GUS 
HAIRSTYLING

9 Years

INSIDE  
WORLD

116 Thames St S. 485-0511 Ingersoll Hwy No. 19 Bell St. W. Ingersoll

13 Years

CAN-TARIO PRECAST LTD.
County Rd. 9 (Formerly No. 2 Hwy W.)

537-6645

9 Years
Hammond

Xir Conditioning
& M ANUFACTURING  L T D .* *

174 THAMES ST. S., INGERSOLL. ONT. N5C 2T5 
TEL. 519 485-5961

D Years

□ O  Ingersoll 
Optical

188 T h a m e s  S t.S ., In g e rs o ll 485-3940

8 Years

BOB'S SUBMARINE & PIZZA  

15 KING. W. INGERSOLL 

485-3431

T H E
12 Years

M U F F L E R M A N
8 7 8  D U N D A S  S T .

W O O D S T O C K  
5 3 9 - 4 8 7 4

12 Years

Riverside 
Mini Market

211 C h a rle s  S t.W ., In g e rs o ll 
485-2111

7 Years

RECORDS UNLIMITED  

103 Thames St. S.

485-5081

7 Years 
BLACK’S DEPARTMENT 

STORE 
“ F a m ily  Service With 

Guaranteed Satisfaction ”  
D O W N T O W N  IN G E R S O L L

123-125 Tham es St. S . Phone 485-0470

II Years

BeachviLime 
Limited

7 Years

GIGI’S PIZZA 8 RESTAURANT
63 Charles St. E. Ingersoll

485-2681
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5 Years

Jim Ju rst
Ingersoll, Ontario

Hwy 401 & 19: Exit 27

5 Years

DINING HOUSE & TAVERN
215 Thames St. S.___________________________  485-1612

5 Years

YOUNG’S 
PHARMACY

136 Thames St. S. 485-4560 Ingersoll

4 Years

UNIVERSAL PRINTING
15 Thames St., S., 485-5248

4 Years

PEOPLE’S RESTAURANT 
97 Bell St. Ingersoll 

485-3720

3 Years

DINO’S RESTAURANT
11 King St. W.

I Year

Windale Feed & Seed
42 King St. W 

Ingersoll, Ontario 485-2150

I Year

Ingersoll Glass & Mirror
3 Boles Street Ingersoll

485-5471

Business Section, early 1900’s
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Major changes in police department
BY RENE MCKNIGHT

With the cruiser parked on the Oxford 
Street hill and a uniformed man waiting to 
respond, a call for help could be answered 
immediately by Ingersoll police, as long as a 
few officers were on hand to give the 1955 
Plymouth police cruiser a push down the hill 
to get it started.

When Ingersoll got its own town police 

joining it was like signing your life away, 
Mr. Jam es recalled. Officers were only paid 
$42 per week, which was rather low for the 
time, he said.

Mr. Jam es said Ingersoll has been a 
relatively quiet town over the years. To his 
recollection, there have not been any armed 
robberies, nor have there been any mur­
ders. However, he admitted he was stabbed 
once, and said the police station has been 
shot at.

1974 when Mr. James again took over, this 
time as chief.

When Chief James retired in 1983, Bruce 
Richards was appointed the new chief, a 
position he still holds.

Ingersoll police force has kept up with the 
times and now has a staff consisting of a 
chief, 11 officers, and a civilian staff. The 
police of Ingersoll also have two cruisers 
now, neither of which has to be pushed down 
a hill to be started.

History of town churches

Since Thomas Ingersoll first settled the 
Ingersoll area, there have been many, many 
churches.

One of the earliest was a Methodist 
Church located one mile east of Harris 
Street, along the Old Stage Road, now King 
Street, a third and a mile south.

The King Street Wesleyan Methodist 
Church was built in 1865 and was situated on 
the north west comer of King and Church 
Streets. It lated joined another church and 
took on the name Trinity United Church.

In 1857 an Episcopal Methodist Church, 
known as the Charles Street Church was 
built. It was located on the north side of 
Charles Street. It was later demolished.

A British Methodist Episcopal Church was 
on the south side of Catherine Street and was 
built in 1858 by the 350 Negro residents of the 
town.

In 1904, following the death of the church’s 
minister, Rev. Hale, the church was no 
longer used, and in 1932 it was sold

The New Connection Church was a branch 
of Methodism. In 1875 there were five of 
these churches located in the Ingersoll area. 
In 1925 the Methodist congregation and 
some Presbyterians united to form the 
United Church of Canada.

The John Street Methodist Church was 
constructed in 1870. Today the building is 
used as a home.

A Baptist church was erected in the 
Harris Street Cemetery, west of the 
archway, in 1932. Another Baptist church 
was built on Albert Street in 1857. In 1864 the 
present Baptist Church, at the comer of 
Canterbury and Thames Streets was built.

In 1838 a small Catholic church was built 
on Church Street. In 1847 another one was 
built on the west side of John Street, 
between Bell and Victoria Streets. In 1879 a 
brick church was built, today’s Sacred 
Heart Church.

Knox Presbyterian Church was built in 
1847. In 1889 the Knox congregation joined 
with St. Andrew’s Church.

The Erskine Presbyterian congregation 
was organized in 1852 and a church was built 
in 1855. The congregation joined the Knox 
Church in 1883.

St. Andrew’s Church was built in 1872. In 
1889 the Knox congregation joined with St. 
Andrew’s and the new church was called St.
Paul’s.

In 1982 St. Paul’s Presbyterian Church 
marked its 135th anniversary.

In 1835 the First Anglican Church was 
built by the Charles Ingersoll family. A new 
brick church was built in 1868 on Oxford 
Street and is now known as St. Jam es’ 
Anglican Church.

The Salvation Army in 1982 marked its 
100th anniversary, although it came to 
Ingersoll in 1885.

The Christian Reformed Church in 1955 
established a church just outside of Inger­
soll on King Street West. In 1976 a new 
church was built on the same location.

In 1935 the Pentecostal congregation 
bought the former Evan’s Piano Co. office to 
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From farm girl to famous evangelist
BY MIKE WALSH

. One of the world’s most noted female 
evangelists came from the Ingersoll area, 
she was Aimee Semple McPherson.

Born October 9, 1890 on a dairy farm 
located about a mile and a half west of 
Salford, Aimee Elizabeth Kennedy was the 
only daughter of James Morgan Kennedy 
and Minnie Peirce. Brought up with a strong 
religious background, Aimee, in her auto­
biography, ‘The Personal Testimony’, re­
called her early childhood as being “assoc­
iated with good, old fashion hymns and 
Bible stories. Daniel in the lions’ den, the 
three Hebrew children in the fiery furnace, 
and other Bible stories were so interwoven 
in my life that by the time I was five years of 
age, I could have repeated them word for 
word as they had been told to me.”

Ingersoll in those days had a population of 
about 1,000 and had seven churches with the 
largest and most prominent being the 
Methodist church. Aimee’s father attended 
this church but her mother, known to 
everyone as “ Happy Minnie” was brought 
up by a Salvation Army couple. Therefore, 
she continued to follow this denomination. 
Records don’t indicate what church Aimee 
attended.

Bibliography accounts indicate Aimee as 
being imaginative and outgoing in Public 
School and credits her wit and courage for 
allowing her to make friends at the Ingersoll 
High School. In fact, she was so well liked, 
she was the winner of a popularity contest.

She’s described as being athletic, intelli­
gent, beautiful, and well-liked, although her 
aggressive behaviors and high ambition set 
her apart from other girls .

At one stage in her life Aimee had desires 
of becoming an actress but this changed 
when she was 17. One evening, prior to 
taking Aimee to her play practise, Mr.- 
Kennedy and Aimee went to listen to a 
travelling evangelist.

Robert Semple’s subject matter, 
“Repent” , spoke to Aimee in such a way 
that she began skipping classes to attend his 
services. What resulted from attending 
these revival service? “Aimee’s old life was 
over.” She was “born again” and “in love.” 
as written in a bibliography by Alvyn 
Austin.

The evangelist and Aimee became close 
and even though he moved on to preach, 
they corresponded. However, he did return 
shortly afterwards, this time, taking Aimee 
with him. They were married and on their 
way to China to work as missionaries.

Even before he began to learn the Chinese 
language, Mr. Semple was struck with a

Aimee Semple McPherson 
created a sensation wherever she went

M L

her head for silent prayer. Without opening 
her eyes she was aware that a large crowd 
was gathering. At just the right moment 
Aimee raised her head and shouted “Follow 
Me!,” then tore down the street to the 
chapel.

“When everyone had gathered inside, she 
ordered the doors to be locked until she had 
finished. After that, her meetings were filled 
to overflowing. The church that she started 
continues to this present day.”

Encouraged by her reception in Ontario, 
Aimee left with her two children and mother 
for California. In Los Angeles, she rented a 
large hall and eventually the 3,500 seat 
auditorium was filled to overflowing. Her 
abilities to travel without a man and to 
undertake plans which would be ambitious 
“even for a male preacher” , was remark­
able in the audiences eyes.

Many people were being healed at 
Aimee’s services. One bibliography said 
during a service in San Diego, “a crippled 
women rose from her wheelchair and 
walked to the platform, followed by hund­
reds of other invalids who were miraculous­
ly “cured.” Said Aimee, “ I am not a healer. 
Jesus is the healer, I am only the little office 
girl who opens the door and says come in.”

Aimee was often refered to as the Jazz 
Age Preacher, because of her showbiz 
approach to preaching the Gospel. She drew 
thousands of followers. In fact, with their 
donations and support, the Angelus Temple 
was built in 1923.

The 5,000 seat building was always filled . 
with an audience who came to hear Aimee 
speak, “not of the old gospel of fear, but 
rather what she called her “Four Square 
Gospel” based on being bom again, divine 
healing, the Second Coming of Christ and 
the Baptism of the Holy Spirit.”

During the depression, Aimee and her 
Four Square Gospel were highly respected 
for serving the needy by supplying food to 
the hungry and unemployed. Also during 
this time, missions were established all over 
the world.

The booklet, Outstanding Women of 
Oxford County, says that Aimee had a 
very dramatic life, and outlines one account 
that still remains a mystery. “Because 
Aimee lived in an age where scandals and 
sensational stories filled the newspaper, it is 
hard to try to find the truth about the events 
and people that surrounded her. Unfortun-

g
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Aimee Semple McPherson, one of 
the most noted female evange­
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Ingersoll's Oxford Street 
bares little resemblance 
to the way it looked in the 
late 1800s. This photo was 
taken from the Old Town 
Hall, looking south, to­
ward Charles Street. The 
area directly behind the 
Old Town Hall was used 
as a market area. Today 
the police station is loca­
ted there. Behind each of 
the buildings are wood 
piles, used for heating.

Pond 'monster' hoax drew 10,000 spectators
BY R E N E  MCKNIGHT

Keeping up with the Jones’s is an almost 
timeless tradition and one May 24 holiday 
Ingersoll residents, not wanting to be 
outdone by Scotland’s Lockness monster, 
came up with a creature which would 
attract 10,000 curious visitors to the village.

It all began in the early months of 1857 
(some historians say 1862) when turbulance 
was noted on Partlo’s Pond by several 
citizens. In a matter of time the frothing 
pond set free the imaginations of the 
townspeople and was thought to be inhabited 
by a fearsome creature.

It was only a m atter of time before the 
press picked up on the issue and added more 
fuel to the fire. Soon historians, professors 
and museum experts were in on the monster 
talks. Rumours spread like wildfire; a 
prehistoric turtle lurked in the still waters of 
Partlo Pond, or perhaps an alligator 
dropped by some travelling menagerie. 
Whatever this monster was, it was gaining 

notoriety and townspeople were demanding 
it be caught and removed; dead or alive.

May 24 was chosen as the date that the 
fearsome creature would be caught. This 
issue was no longer just the concern of a 
little Ontario town but of the whole nation. 
On the holiday weekend, the pond was to be 
drained and the monster disclosed.

Despite the fact Ingersoll had prepared 
for a crowd of curious onlookers to visit, it 
was not prepared for the 10,000 visitors that 
came. Barn lofts were rented at premium 
rates for those seeking shelter.

One of the strangers who had loafed into 
town was a noteworthy professor from the 
United States, who was anonymously signed 
in at the Royal Exchange Hotel. With him he 
brought dozens of literary pamphlets deal­
ing with prehistoric creatures.

As the great moment drew near, excite­
ment ascended on the crowd of people 
surrounding Partlo’s Pond. Although the 
gates were not to open until 4 p.m., 10,000 
people had gathered along the shores of the 

alleged sea serpant’s home long before that 
time.

Men armed with shot guns were also at the 
site, prepared to shoot the monster should it 
attack. The American professor who had 
supposedly sited the monster through his 
binoculars, was credited with saying “ It’s a 
hairy creature.”

After the dam had been released and the 
waters of the pond began to receed, a raft 
carrying two men was sent out onto the 
pond. If possible they were going to lasso the 
denizen of the pond.

Suddenly turbulance was noted and the 
raftsmen quickly made their way to this 
signt. Catching sight of the monster, they 
plunged a spear pike into its’ side twice. 
One man aboard the raft lost his balance 
and slipped into the water but was quick to 
clammer onto the raft’s deck. Those on 
shore suspected the monster had bumped 
the raft, causing the- man to fall in.

Suddenly the creature surfaced and the 
crowds roared with laughter. An Irishman 

among them cried, ‘“Tis a hoax, be 
heavens, ‘tis a hoax.’” The hide of a 
two-year-old streer stuffed with straw and 
bricks to keep it under the water was towed 
ashore.

The American professor, however, found 
little humor in the joke. “ It is more than a 
hoax” he bellowed, “it is an outrage on the 
people of half the American continent.” He 
then demanded an apology. Instead a 
councillor who had witnessed the whole 
event ordered him out of town. “If you don’t 
get on the first train out of town, I’ll have 
you thrown in jail,” he declared.

The explaination for the pond’s frothing 
was simple. John Stuart made oatmeal at 
his mill. Waste from the mill, including oat 
hulls, were emptied into a river which lead 
into Partlo’s Pond. When the waste fer­
mented, bubbles resulted, which first stir­
red the imaginations of Ingersoll residents. 
Once the imaginations of a few people were 
put to work, a few practical jokers went to 
work creating the legendary pond monster.
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Thames River bridges unite town’s north and south
BY MARJORIE FLEMING

The Carroll Street Bridge as it was years ago. Today the bridge is called the Mutual Street 
bridge and has, of course, been replaced. On the right is the former Wonham Street bridge, 
which was destroyed in the great flood of 1937.

Little information exists on some aspects 
of Ingersoll’s past, and unfortunately a rich 
and interesting profile on old town bridges is 
one part of Ingersoll’s heritage that seems 
to be missing from the history files.

Research netted little, except a photo­
graph and vague mentions of several 
bridges spanning the Thames. But an 
Ingersoll native shed , some light on the 
subject when approached.

Edgar Dunlop, a barber in town for many 
years, recalled some of the old town bridges, 
and was particularity helpful with regard to 
the old Wonham Street Bridge that was 
washed out in a flood in 1937. Said Mr. 
Dunlop, “I remember that bridge well. It 
was in fairly constant use until a man was 
killed on the road leading to the pork 
factory, on the north side of the river. After 
the fellow was killed, the road was closed, so 
traffic across the bridge was much lighter.”

Mr. Dunlop doesn’t remember the exact 
date, but sometime soon after the flood in 
1937 wiped out the Wonham Street bridge, a 
swing bridge was constructed across the 
river to enable the residents of the town 
easier access to work.

“The swing bridge was essentially a foot 
bridge, but I can remember some carts 
going back and forth,” Mr. Dunlop said. 
“The bridge was sturdy, with heavy sides on 
it, unlike the one put up down at the end of 
Whiting Street.”

There is no exact date known for the 
creation of the swing bridge at the bottom of 
Whiting Street, but Mr. Dunlop recalled that 
it was a foot bridge constructed by some 
workmen at the Borden plant, so they could 
get back and forth to work.

“The Whiting Street foot bridge was 
considerably narrower than the Wonham 
bridge, and I would have to say that it was 
also less sturdy and more of a challenge to 
cross.”

Mr. Dunlop dug back in his memory and 
came out with some interesting tidbits on 
other bridges in town.

He remembered the old Pemberton Street 
bridge, with its iron and steel sides, and 
said, “We rarely referred to that bridge by 
its name - to us it was the ‘Iron Duke.’

Edgar Dunlop also recalled a small 
bridge, located south of the Mutual Street 
bridge. There was a woolen mill located in 
the vicinity, a small dam, and a small 
bridge that spanned two ponds near the 
dam. He remembers it well because, “It 
was a realty pretty walk down that way; it’s 
all changed now of course, but back then the 
woolen mill used the small dam as a power 
source.”

Unfortunately very little written data 
exists about Ingersoll’s old bridges, but as 
long as residents like Mr. Dunlop give some 
of their time to reminiscing, pieces of 
Ingersoll’s heritage will remain alive and 
interesting.

Mayor Thomas J. Morrison, right, and one of the town's oldest residents, carried out ribbon cutting cere­
monies at the official opening of the Thames Street bridge in 1966-67.
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Lime industry operating since 1800s

BY WES ROCHESTER

all kilns. In 1970-71 the entire department 
was modernized in a major program to 
expand production. In the same years, due 
to corporate changes in policy at Cyanamid 
of Canada Ltd., the Beachville plant entered 
a period of non-growth. The rotary and lime 
kiln was taken out of production and 
production was cut back.

In April 1973, Dominion Foundaries and 
Steel Ltd. - Dofasco - purchased the plant. 
This new organization is known as Beachvi-

Lime Ltd. and is run as a subsidiary of 
Dofasco. The rotary lime kiln was reactivat­
ed. Improvements and additions were made 
to the mobile equipment. The plant opened a 
new quarry north of the existing one and it 
connects with an underground tunnel. 
Hence, for many years, this business has 
continued to expand.

These Beachville quarries are noted as 
the largest open pit quarry in Canada, with 
three active producers -  Stelco, Beachvi- 
Lime and Domtar.

Streetlights installed 

in early 1900s

The first streetlights in Ingersoll were 
erected in 1906.

Ingersoll was the chosen site for the first 
telephone exchange in Canada. It was 

established in April, 1880 and there were 13 
phones at that time.

It has been said that necessity fuels man’s 
desires into action. While it cannot be 
proven that the wheel was invented when an 
ancestor tossed an unwanted rock down a 
hillside, such accidents have resulted in the 
discovery of many a necessity.

Along the shores of the Thames River the 
first settlers found limestone rocks. Not 
finding much use for the stone that so easily 
crumbles, they simply threw the rocks aside 
with the rest of the unwanted brush and 
brick-a-brack. Either by an act of nature or 
by need, eventually these piles were set 
ablaze and it was discovered, when heat was 
put to this stone it would turn into a fine 
powder known as lime.

Early farmers found when they mixed this 
greyish white powder with a little water, it 
made an excellent plaster to fill the spaces 
between the logs of their cabins. From this 
wee spark grew Canada’s limestone in­
dustry.

From calcium carbonate deposits that 
were formed on a shallow ocean floor during 
the devonian age, came two types of 
limestone. In the 1800s both grey and white 
lime were produced but white proved to be 
in more demand. Fields of white lime ran 
west of Beachville towards Ingersoll, while 
grey deposits were found east of Beachville, 
towards Woodstock.

The first permanent set kilns were large 
grey stone structures lined with fire brick 
and burned three foot cord wood for fuel. An 
opening at the top allowed for access, with 
some kilns built into the hillside with wooden 
ramps leading to the top, so horse drawn 
wagons could carry the stone up and dump it 
into the hollow centre. When the kiln was 
filled, fireplaces on each side were lit. In a 
week’s time, heat and smoke would slowly 
burn the stone to lime. Two hundred to 300 
bushels of lime for morter and white wash 
was considered a good week’s work.

growing industry, the district was first to be 
cleared for agriculture. Teams that drew 
rock from the river beds in summer, hauled 
logs all winter.

The deposits were almost at ground level. 
Pick, crow bar and sledge hammer could 
easily remove the rock but only shallow pits 

could be excavated. Even with the back- 
breaking job of working old log pumps, it 
was impossible to keep the seeping water 
out. Water wheels were developed to work 
through the night.

In 1907 the Beachville Lime Company 
began to sell to a Niagara Falls Company, 
Cyanamid, which had opened its own .quarry 
in the early 1900s. In 1929 the two lime 
companies merged, under the name of 
Cyanamid. In 1934 the plant became North 
American Cyanamid Ltd. - Beachville 
Plant, with facilities on the 150 acre site two 
miles west of Beachville and at Niagara 
Falls, where most of the production was 
shipped to during the 1930s and 1940s.

In the early 1950s additional markets 
appeared for limestone products. Limestone 
has a number of uses: in blast furnaces 
producing steel, in glass and paper indust­
ries, in the making of cement and fertilizer, 
in various other chemical compounds, and it 
is required to neutralize acid waste.

1956-58 saw a complete modernization of 
the Beachville plant. Mobile shovels replac­
ed railway shovels; the quarry railway gave 
way to diesel trucks and conveyor belts; a 
modern crusher replaced the old, and a 
screening facility was constructed.

A completely new lime plant, a rotary 
lime kiln with pulverized coal as a heating 
medium, was installed at the north end of 
the existing plant. Total production doubled 
in 1957.

The rock contains 97 per cent pure lime. It 
takes two million tons of lime, the lost 
weight being given off as gas.

As markets expanded, so did the plant. In 
the lime kiln department two additional 
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lost

Days of fighting fire with water buckets long gone
BY RENE MCKNIGHT

When the bell that adorned the Old Town 
Hall sounded, the Ingersoll fire brigade was 
quick to respond. With water pails in hand, 
the team, consisting of 13 volunteers and one 
chief, would rush to extinguish a fire and 
stop it from spreading to other buildings.

In 1863 Ingersoll’s first fire brigade was 
formed with R.H. Carroll acting as chief.

The bell which summoned fire fighters to 
work, was rung on a code system. Ingersoll 
had three different wards, each containing 
fire fighting equipment. Depending which 
ward the fire was located in, the bell would 
sound a specific number of times.

In 1871 the fire department had 12 wooden 
pails and two jiggers. When the blaze of 1872 
swept through town, this was the only 
equipment Ingersoll had to combat it.

When the Ingersoll fire brigade came into 
being, most of the buildings in town were 
made of wood, and fires were a common 
occurrence. Because of the risks involved 
with fire fighting, and the regularity of fires, 
volunteers were paid 50 cents a month.

A modernized apparatus added to the 
Ingersoll fire brigade in 1873 was a steam 
engine that cost the town $4,750. That year 
also marked the introduction of horses to the 
department and the man-powered jiggers 
were no longer needed.

When emergencies occurred, everyone 
was expected to help. Any male between the 
ages of 16 and 60, according to the law, had 
to assist in extinguishing fires when asked 
by a brigade member. Those violating the 
law faced a stiff fine, with a maximum 
penalty of either $20 or 20 days in jail.

The fire brigade discontinued the use of 
the bell for sommoning volunteers in 1927, 
one year after it got its first motorized 
equipment. Telephones were then the 
method used for contacting volunteer fire 
fighters.

In the mid 1960s a radio system was 
developed and the telephone system was
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Since its formation in 1867 Ingersoll Fire Department has seen what technology can doe. In 1878 the town fire brigade had a steam engine as well as
horse-drawn apparatuses.

eliminated.
The Old Town Hall served as the first fire 

station for the Ingersoll brigade and until 
just a few years ago, the department 

Major fires in
BY MIKE WALSH

In bold letters, on the front page of the 
May 10, 1872 edition of the London Free 
Press, read the following headlines.
Great fire in Ingersoll
Two Lives Lost
Immense Loss
The Business Part of the town in Ashes.
Full particulars

On May 7, 1872, the Town of Ingersoll 
suffered its most disastrous fire. It 

continued to operate from this building. It is 
now located on Mutual Street.

Ingersoll’s fire department has seen many 
changes since its formation 121-years-ago, 

Ingersoll’s history
destroyed 80 businesses on the west side of 
Thames Street South and claimed two lives.

The fire, termed one of the most 
destructive disasters anywhere in Canada, 
broke out in a stable located behind the 
Royal Exchange Hotel. Because the build­
ings in those days were constructed out of 
wood, it didn’t take long for the blaze to 
spread. Within minutes, buildings on the 
east side of Oxford Street, between Thames 
and King, were invaded by the fire.

Newspaper reports indicated the fire went 
as far as the market square and despite the 
mild north easterly winds that evening, the 
heat was so intense that the flames flew 
over the biddings directly across the street.

Ingersoll fire department arrived at the 
scene around 8 p.m. that evening but were 
not capable of controlling the fire. Their 
equipment included a two face pump of 
manual rocker type, water buckets, wet 
blankets and carpets.

Shortly after their arrival, Chief Engineer 
Brady wired for assistance from the London 
and Woodstock fire departments. The 
London Pheonex Company (fire dept.) 
arrived just in time to stop a fire in a large 
three storey building owned by Mayor John 
McDonald, from spreading. The house was 
saved.

especially in methods of transportation. 
Since its beginning, the staff has increased 
to include three full-time employees and 16 
volunteers.

townsfolk braved the hot flames to remove 
goods from the main business core. Two 
people died as a result.

C.C. Paine, a pumpmaker in Ingersoll, 
was trapped in R.H. Young’s store 
when he spent too long in there trying to 
save some of the store goods. People outside 
of the building, aware of Mr. Paine’s fate, 
were unable to help him.

A wall at Fawke’s Jewelry store fell on top 
of John Omand while he was also trying to 
save the store goods.

Although the exact cause of the fire is not 
known, there was speculation it was the 
work of an arsonist. The fire was caused by 
coal oil or some other flammable substance 
many people felt, because a large volume of 
black smoke had dispersed from the empty 
stable hay loft.

The fires raged for eight hours and caused 
an estimated $30,000 damage. Eighty-years- 
later, in the September 13, 1952 edition of 
The London Free Press, a story listed the 
monetary damage to each of the buildings 
affected by the fire. Many of the buildings 
were either insured or partially insured, but 
many were not insured at all. Also, many of 
the buildings were new.

Most of the buildings were replaced by 
solid brick ones, many of which are still 
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Newspapers traced community’s growth
BY MIKE WALSH

Prior to the turn of the century, Ingersoll 
had approximately five newspapers. Today, 
none of those papers exist.

Attempts were made by Jessie Robins and 
partner Allan Houghton to purchase The 
Tribune’s name in 1969, but they were 
unsuccessful. Mrs. Robins, an Ingersoll 
resident, said their intent was to incorporate 
the name with the weekly newspaper they 
established in July of 1969, The Ingersoll 
Times, still in operation today.

Papers were drawn up she said, for the 
purchase of the name, but The Tribune 
pulled out of the deal with no apparent 
reason. Within six months after The Times 
was established, The Tribune, founded in 
1873, closed its doors.

“We tried very hard to buy the paper,” 
she said, because they didn’t want to see one 
of Ingersoll’s first weekly newspapers die. 
They had planned to call it The Times- 
Tribune.

The first paper in this town was the 
Ingersoll Chronicle. It was founded in 1853 
by the late J.S. Gurnett. It was later passed 
onto his son, G.F. Gurnett, and after his 
death, Messrs. Patience and Agwe purchas­
ed it. A few months later, they sold it to E. R. 
Elliot. He later turned it over to his son W. J. 
Elliot. The paper eventually turned daily,

courtesy of Bell Canada)

however, Ingersoll was not capable of 
supporting a daily paper and it eventually 
folded.

The Tribune, formerly known as The 
Oxford Tribune, and Daily Reporter, was 
founded in 1873 by Harry Rowland. It was 
sold over to E.L. Smith and son in 1905. 
During this time, the paper was noted for 
having a well equipped printing depart­

ment. Prior to The Tribune, the weekly 
newspaper, The Nationalist, was establish­
ed. Although little information is available 
about this paper, it is known that a Mr. 
Constable and a Mr. Harris were the 
editors in 1864. Also, that the paper was also 
called the “News.”

In 1881, C.R. Patience established The 
Ingersoll Sun. It was purchased in 1887 by 

P.A. Belamy of Orangeville. The paper, an 
independent liberal in politics, is said to 
have offered a reliable, comprehensive and 
concise local news service.

In 1882, a publishing company, The Union 
Publishing Co., was founded by J.F. 
Morrey. It specialized in printing farmer’s 
directories, provincial directories and city, 
town and village directories. Prior to this 
business, Mr. Morrey, a prominent Odd­
fellow, assisted his father in the business.

The Sentinel Review, the only surviving 
newspaper in Woodstock, opened an Inger­
soll bureau in the early 1900’s. The paper 
was first established in 1870. Ten years 
later, the daily paper, known at the time as 
The Sentinel, amalgamated with Woodstock 
Review on September 11, 1880. During that 
time frame, Woodstock had a dozen 
newspapers and five dailies in the city and 
county.

In those days, a bread rig from Woodstock 
delivered the papers to the Ingersoll paper 
carriers who waited on unpaved Charles 
Street.

The only weekly paper in Ingersoll today 
is The Ingersoll Times which was establish­
ed in 1969 by Mrs. Robins and Mr. Houghton. 
In May of 1971, Chuck McKnight and W.J. 
Pratt, who owned the Tillsonburg news­
paper, purchased it. They still own the 
paper but under the name of Otter 
Publishing Ltd.

In years gone by

Many hoaxes initiated by reporters
BY MIKE WALSH

Years ago, when three newspapers in 
Oxford County, including the Ingersoll 
Chronicle, didn’t have enough copy to fill 
their papers, they created some stories of 
their own.

WAYNE G. 
CAMPBELL

REAL ESTATE BROKER

“From its inception,” wrote historian 
Stanley J. Smith, “Oxford County has been 
the breeding spot of the tallest tales of 
imagination, more than any other settle­
ment in Canada. Being buried deep into the 
wilderness and far, far away from the usual 
channels of information, the editors of the 

Princeton Review; Woodstock Sentinel and 
the Ingersoll Chronicle, had to make news to 
fill their journal’s columns! Regardless of 
the truth, these three newspapers out-vied 
each other with tall tales.”

A lot of these tales, he said, were picked 
up by the larger metropolitan dailies and 
published as being “authentic.”

In 1855, the Woodstock Sentinel carried a 
story which said an earthquake had 
occurred in Derham Township. It went into 
detail describing how the settlers had ran 
onto the streets as everything around them 
was toppling. The Ingersoll readers were 
shocked to find that The Chronicle, printed 
the following day, had only carried 12 lines 
of type mentioning the Woodstock paper had 
carried a story regarding the earthquake.

This was no doubt a hoax, said Mr. Smith, 
“probably with connivance of both news­
papers, because very friendly relations 
existed between the Sentinel and the 
Chronicle... It was sort of “you be the first to 

correspondent.” The story eventually ended 
up in many papers including Kingston, 
Montreal and Halifax and as Mr. Smith 
wrote, “every editor added a little bit 
more... probably they were also starved for 
“news” and wanted to fill their columns.”

Shortly after all this publicity, Chronicle 
editor J.S. Gurnett wrote an editorial and in 
it he published the Sentinel’s version and 
demanded the Hamilton Spectator and 
Toronto Globe disclose their correspondent. 
He downgraded them for “pilfering news” 
and not giving the story credit to the 
Woodstock paper.

Over the years, the papers came out with 
many hoaxes. Some of the others as 
mentioned by Mr. Smith include “Major 
Thomas Ingersoll spending $50,000 to con­
struct a bridge; that General Procter buried 
a military chest containing gold in the hills 
abounding Beachville; that General Mc­
Carthy in 1814, led thousands and thousands 



Section 2, Page 26! The Ingersoll Times, Wed., July 25, 1984

Underground slave railway stopped here
BY TOM DURALIA

The parking lot just south of Big V 
Pharmacy on Oxford Street doesn’t look 
overly exciting on first glimpse.

But were you to close your eyes and bring 
your thoughts back to the 1850s, you might 
feel somewhat different about that patch of 
concrete.

Envision a bustling Ingersoll of 2,000 
persons, an old church, a mysterious 
Underground Railroad and a fiery-tongued 
orator plotting to overthrow the American 
government.

And think of the period. The American 
Civil War was less than a decade away, 
there were growing tensions between the 
north and the south, and the Fugitive Slave 
Act, passed in 1850, meant that blacks were 
not safe from extradition even in free states.

In 1854, at a cost of $2,500, the Wesleyan 
Methodist Church was built where cars 
unceremoniously park today.

And between 1854 and the outbreak of the 
civil war in 1861, fugitive slaves in the black 
of night were whisked into that church’s 
attic, the most northerly terminus of the 
Underground Railroad.

During the 1850s, Ingersoll was host to 
between 400 and 500 blacks, the second 
highest black concentration in Canada 
behind Chatham. And many of the slaves 
that made it to Ingersoll via the Under­
ground Railway were from as far away as 
New Orleans.

According to an abolitionist newspaper, 
“The Voice of the Fugitive,” in the early 
1850s a large concentration of blacks worked 
on the railroad, and Ingersoll attracted a 
number once the line was open to Windsor, 
because wood for the locomotives was cut 
and stored here.

The Underground Railroad of the time 
was a source of considerable mystery to the 
slavers of the U.S., however, it seems they 
were the only ones who didn’t know what it 
was by the late 1850s, and in some northern 
states, the routes were actually published in 
anti-slavery newspapers.

The Underground Railroad was not a 
railroad at all, but rather a mutual 
agreement between the friends of the

Abolitionist John Brown

slaves, predominantly the Quakers, to aid 
fugitives on their way to Canada. The slaves 
were taken from one friend to another, only 
at night, until they reached Canada’s safety.

According to the late Rev. W.M. Mitchell 
in his book, The Underground Railroad, the 
term Underground Railroad originated 
after a master lost his expensive slave, 
following a long chase.

“Being disappointed and the loser of 
$10,000, and having no object in which to 
vent his dirty spleen, he turned upon the 
poor Abolitionists, and said, ‘The danmed 
Abolitionists must have a railroad under the 
ground by which they run off Niggers’.”

When Mr. Mitchell wrote his book in 1860, 
he commented that annually, 1,200 slaves 
were being conveyed to Canada via the 
Underground Railroad.

One of the greatest proponents of the 
anti-slavery faction and the Underground 
Railroad was John Brown, also known as 
Captain John Brown and Old John Brown.

Born in 1800 in Connecticut, opinions vary 
on this man from calling him a madman to a 
martyr, and his direct approach to freeing 
slaves by force, if necessary, often lost the 
respect of the other Abolitionists, who 

idealistically dreamed of a peaceful emanci­
pation for the black slaves.

Brown reportedly first came to Canada in 
April of 1858, where he spent much of his 
time in travel, gathering support for a 
planned guerilla-style strike on the U.S. 
Federal arsenal in Virginia, Harper’s 
Ferry.

Some of that time was spent in Ingersoll, 
where he met with others at the Daly House, 
now Marco’s Landing, to discuss a plan of 
attack. He is also said to have spoken at the 
Wesleyan Church to rally support against 
slavers in the U.S.

During the mid-1850’s, Brown is said to 
have conducted numerous raids on pro- 
slavery plantations, killing the slavers and 
enlisting the services of the freed blacks in 
his guerilla army.

On October 16 to 18, 1859, Brown and 21 
men made their attempt to capture the 

FINE QUALITY 
FURNISHINGS AND 
CUSTOMER 
SATISFACTION

WE'VE BUILT OUR BUSINESS O N  THIS PROMISE

In 1934 P.T. Walker opened “P.T. Walker Furniture Ltd.” for 
business. He believed people wanted fine quality furniture at 
reasonable prices. Today we still believe in this promise.

50 YEARS OF SERVICE TO INGERSOLL a AREA

GitniUiC

Virginia arsenal, but failed miserably. Of 
the men involved, 10 were killed, including 
two of Brown’s sons, six escaped and five 
were hanged, including Brown.

Brown was tried for treason, conspiracy 
and murder on October 31 of the same year, 
found guilty, and hanged in Charlestown, 
Va., 32 days after trial.

Once the Civil War began, which some 
believe was sparked by the Harper’s Ferry 
incident, northern troops and civilians sang 
the folk song “John Brown’s body lies 
a-mouldering in the grave - But his soul is 
marching on.”

The Wesleyan Methodist Church of Oxford 
Street was demolished in 1956 to make way 
for a carwash, which in turn gave way to the 
parking lot.

But when you walk by that lot and close 
your eyes, that parking lot can be pretty 
exciting.

133 Thames St. S. 
Ingersoll 

485-2200

Hurley’s IGA
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Town’s first hospital opened in 1898
BY TOM DURALIA

For most of us, Alexandra Hospital may 
seem like it has existed since the dawn of 
time

There are those who remember the 
palatial Noxon home, the precursor to the 
present institution, that was demolished in 
1951 to make way for Alexandra. But what 
about before 19099 Where did the sick seek 
assistance before Alexandra Hospital9

According to historical records, travelling 
country doctors were what was available 
through most of the 1800s, and it wasn’t until 
1889 that a movement was initiated to 
establish a hospital facility in Ingersoll. 
However, a petition circulated for support of 
the idea attracted little interest from 
residents and as time were hard and money 
tight, the project was dropped.

In 1898 Dr. J.M. Rogers opened a private 
hospital for his patients at 106 Francis 
Street in the front rooms. The hospital was 
staffed by the doctor and a lone nurse. There 
is no indication as to how well the hospital 
did. other than that it spurred a few others to 
crop up.

In the same year. Dr Angus McKay set up 
a hospital in a house at the corner of Victoria 
and McKeand Streets, where he left a nurse 
in charge while he made his rounds.

Two years later, the William Waterworth 
house on the west side of Oxford Avenue, 
became the first public hospital and was a 
collective effort from the town’s doctors.

Ingersoll was once home 
fo r D r  Norman Bethune

lo o k  Vour B est...

One of the most famous and admired men 
in the world. Dr Henry Norman Bethune, 
once lived and worked in the Town of 
Ingersoll.

Though little of his brief tenure in 
Ingersoll has been recorded, Bethune 
apparently filled in for a vacationing Dr. 
Ralph Williams between 1919 and 1920

As written in Roderick Stewart’s Bethune 
biography:

The former James Noxon home was the first Alexandra Hospital. A parking lot, and a portion of the present 
hospital are located where the house once stood.

“To the quiet people of Ingersoll, Bethune 
was very unconventional Always in a 
hurry, he drove Dr Williams’ Model T Ford 
around town at top speed. He gave parties 
for the neighborhood children. On one 
occasion he was called to attend a sick 
farmer and found the tearful wife more 
concerned about her inability to milk the 
cows than about her husband’s condition. 
“Give me the pail,” said Bethune and 

This hospital had sufficient space to 
accommodate the needs of the people at the 
time and with the latest in equipment 
installed, several more serious operations 
were performed. Also, for the first time in 
Ingersoll’s history, babies were delivered in 
a hospital rather than a home.

1909 was a big year as Dr. Angus McKay’s 
residence, the Noxon home, was purchased 
for use as a hospital, at a modest price of 
$6,250, which included a fair-sized plot of 
surrounding land.

This hospital boasted 16 rooms with 
accommodations for 25 patients, and during 
the first year admitted 120 people with 
various afflictions.

As the years passed though, even the 
magnanimous Noxon home couldn’t keep up 
with Ingersoll’s growing population.

In 1949, the cornerstone was laid for a new 
hospital to be constructed at a cost of 
$565,000 and in 1950, the building was 
officially opened.

The following year, the original building 
was sold to wreckers for $1,500 and 
demolished to provide added parking facil­
ities for the new building.

In 1960. a third storey was added to 
Alexandra and a new portion at the north 
end. Another addition in 1970 updated 
facilities even further.

Today, Alexandra Hospital operates with 
72 beds, last year delivering 116 babies, 
receiving 10,277 emergency visits, and 
attending to 805 surgical cases.
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BY RENE MCKNIGHT

Ingersoll was no doubt filled with excite­
ment July 3, 1900 when the first tracks for 
the Woodstock-Thames Valley-Ingersoll 
Electric Railway were laid. Less than a 
year later, in June of 1901, the tracks 
supported daily runs of a trolley car, which 
were to bring much pleasure to Ingersoll 
residents for many years.

Shortly after the tracks were in place, an 
order was made for the ‘Estelle,’ a 
Toonerville Trolley type of car, which began 
its daily escapades in 1901. The trolley was 
the brainchild of Dr. S. Ritter Ickes and J. 
Armstrong, who had both been influential in 
promoting the electric railways in south 
western Ontario.

The trolley, named Estelle after Dr. 
Ickes’ daughter Estelle, featured two rows 
of wooden benches which could seat as 
many as 24 passengers. In the centre of the 
trolley car was a pot bellied stove, which 
according to reports, either refused to work 
in the winter or puffed out so much smoke its 
passengers would leave weasing.

Electricity for the trolley was supplied by 
an overhead power line which propelled the 
car along the tracks. The conductor could 
operate the car from either end of the 
Estelle.

According to the book, ‘Ingersoll Our 
Heritage,' “The original line started at 
Wellington Street, down Dundas Street to 
Mill. Later the line extended east to Huron

First royal visit in 1848
The first royal visit to town was 1872 when 

Lord and Lady Dufferin came to Ingersoll.
Mathew Bixel built one of Canada’s first 

breweries in Ingersoll in 1848.

Louis St. Laurent marked the first time a 
Prime Minister would visit Ingersoll with 
his May 12, 1949 visit.

The Estelle and conductor, early 1900s.

In the early 1800s Ingersoll had its first 
jewelery store established. The store was 
Fawkes Jewelery.

Gigi’s was the first to introduce Ingersoll 
to pizza, which was in 1970.

The Ingersoll Chronicle was the town’s 
first newspaper and was formed by J.S. 
Gurnett in 1853.

Street. The line then took in Mill Street south 
to Park Row, and out to the Ingersoll road 
and Fairmont Park, Beachville and on to 
Ingersoll. The track and car came in from 
the east, crossed the road at the outskirts of 
Ingersoll, to the north side of the road, 
passed the Ingersoll Public Library, across 
the main corner on Charles Street, turned up 
on Oxford Street, on the west side to the 
Ingersoll Inn,” now Marco’s Landing.

It was at this point the electric rod was 
turned to the other end of the car, and the 
conductor would drive the vehicle back to 
Woodstock

The trolley’s route included stops in 
Beachville, Ingersoll and the eastern limits 
of Woodstock, and according to reports, 
would pick up passengers anywhere along 
the way.

INGERSOLL GLASS 
& MIRROR

A business specializing in all types of glass repairs, 
screen repairs, replacement windows, plain & fancy 
mirrors, aluminum storm windows & doors, table tops, 
windshields, store fronts & insulating glass.

WE CUSTOM CUT GLASS TO ANY SIZE
"We would like to thank the people of Ingersoll for your 
patronage of the last year & we look forward to serving 
you in the years to come."

Ingersoll Glass & M irror
EVERYTHING IN GLASS

24 Hour emergency service Stan Cham pea u
3 Boles St. Ingersoll 485*5471

The Estelle became a friend to all of its 
users. When the car first arrived in town, it 
had a rustic scene painted on its sides and 
was decorated with small colored glass 
windows.

A second car was added to the line later, to 
accommodate more passengers on the 
Woodstock, Beachville, Ingersoll line. This 
car was named ‘The City of Woodstock,’ and 
was an open-type car which offered a 
greater seating capacity. This vehicle 
operated in the summer months only

In 1925 the Estelle was retired, along with 
its summer sidekick. ‘City of Woodstock.’ 
Both were replaced by larger box cars 
which were used for freight.

The trolley cars’ disappearance marked 
the end of an era, and before long, 
automobiles travelled the routes which the 
Estelle had.

75 YEARS OF CARING
CARING...

For People
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Ingersoll’s had its share of floods
BY WES ROCHESTER

Some would call it just plain bad luck. 
Others claimed that Mr. Wright had it 
coming because he had become too greedy 
in his affair® those of a religious 
had pronounced His juugement on the 
south side and east side of Whiting Creek 
industrial revolution.

But whatever was said, hardly a person in 
Ingersoll missed the events on that spring 
morning in April 1887.

It was in 1846 that W.H. King built his flour 
mill. Located on King Street West on the 
south side and east side of Whiting Creek, 
Mr. King utilized th#» creek that flowed 
from a io acre pond which lay south-east of 
the mill. But the job of grinding grain 
became too much for the elder resident, and 
soon he sold the business to a younger more 
adventuresum man, Carl Wright

The first thing that Mr. Wright did when 
he took over operation of the mill was to 
forego the ancient method of grinding by 
water-wheel in favor of modern machinery. 
He installed the most modern of steam 
engines that money could buy to power his 
mill, believing he could make up the cost in 
no time flat. Years went by and business 
was good. The dam that once powered the 
mill was allowed to deteriorate.

On April 4, 1887 at 7 a.m. the dam gave 
way. In the first hour the water washed 
away a portion of the old mill and part of the 
new engine house. The high smoke stack 
that signalled the mill’s business for miles 
around, toppled, crashing through the roof. 
A large wooden-frame apartment house, 
purchased by the miller as a place to store 
500 cords of four-foot wood, sat beside the 
stream. When the surging waters hit the 
stock pile, the catapulling explosion hurled 
wood through the house, totally destroying 
it.

Occupying the apartments were Mr. and 
Mrs. John Bowman, their three children. 
Mr. Bowman’s father. John McLean and his 
18-year-old son; Alec Laid, his wife and 
child. Mrs. Bowman and her youngest child 
clung atop a bureau that floated down 

stream. In the process of being saved. Mrs. 
Bowman lost grip of her child’s arm and 
Mrs. Bowman drowned, never to be seen 
again. Mr. Bowman, who was ill in bed, 
floated down to the river and was pulled to 
safety. The other members of the Bowman 
family escaped.

The dam was never rebuilt, but when the 
waters receeded, a small pond remained 
and was used for skating. By 1901 the waters 
had dried sufficiently to allow the Tillson- 
burg Lake Erie and Pennsylvania Railroad 
to build a line on the pond bottom.

HARRIS CREEK
In May of 1894, there was a sudden 

The 1937 flood was the worst recorded. On the left 
are gas tanks that rose out of the ground. That ser­
vice station is now the home of Borland's Esso.

melting of snow accompanied by a warm 
rain The Harris Creek, which flowed 
through central Ingersoll, became greatly 
flooded and three dams on this stream gave 
way. When the flood waters washed out the 
foundation of the building adjoining the 
stream the brick wall fell into the water, 
causing the floors to slope towards the 
stream. The building was occupied by 
James McIntyre ;‘the poet , who conducted 
a furniture and undertaking business at the 
time. Coffins, rough boxes and much 

furniture fell into the rampant waters apd 
were seen carried to the Thames.

Young men, who had tied their boats to 
trees because the water was high above the 
shore, took off after the floating goods 
Much of the furniture was pulled to shore at 
Paton's Sighting, three miles west of 
Ingersoll. However, upholstered chairs 
were seen as far west as Dorchester. Waters 
that crossed over King and Water Streets 
were reported to be one foot in depth

1937 FLOOD

The worst flood on record occurred on 
April 26,1937. Warm rains and melting snow 
combined to cause a rush of water to the 
Thames River by all streams leading to it. 
The dam at Smith’s pond overflowed. 
Memorial Park was flooded so deep that the 
Doctor Carroll memorial cairn was sub­
merged to within a foot from the top.

The Thames Street main bridge was 
washed away The Health Board ordered 
that all drinking water be boiled until 
further notice. Flood waters almost reached 
the Presbyterian Church.

At a service station on Thames Street, 
gasoline tanks rose out of the ground. Flood 
conditions rose to a high level at Munroe’s 
Crossing, east of Ingersoll.

A short distance east of the crossing the 
waters undermined a small bridge. This 
caused a CNR passenger train - the flyer - to 
become derailed It tell into the flooded 
valley, resulting in the deaths of two men 
They were Malcom Isbister, the engineer, 
and Norm Aiken of Sarnia.

It was while trying to reach the scene of 
the accident that Doctor MacDonald, M.O 
H , lost his life due to the swiftly flowing 
water which carried his auto downstream.

BEACHVILIME LIMITED
The Limestone/Lime industry in Oxford County 

has grown from its small rural beginning in tne farming 
community of tne 1800 ’s to a major factor in tne 
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Smith Pond dam break

54 YEARS AGO
Jack's was 
owned and 
operated by 
Sis and Ed Alter.
Located at 103 
Thames St., S.,the 
store was 1,000 
sq. ft.

But even then it was growing

Established on Quality and Dependability and 
Growing since 1930

JACK'S DEPARTMENT STORE
★ 6 Shops in one
★ Ladies and young girls fashions
★ Mens and young men's department

★ Childrens and tots fashions
★ Shoe department for the whole family

★ Large size department for the 
more mature figure

★ Linen, towels, sewing and knitting supplies

created havock for
businesses, home-owners

BY WES ROCHESTER

Judging actions on the basis of past 
events may not be a fair method of 
evaluation but the fact remains, it is done. 
Historians advocate that if we do not learn 
from our past mistakes we are doomed to 
repeat them. A student seeking employment 
is subject to close scrutiny based on his past 
record, either on the basis of education or 
practical experience. The same can be said 
for any of us in any situation.

This is a story of an event that took place 
in Ingersoll’s past. An event that began with 
disaster and ended in disaster; one that 
might have been different if the actions 
taken had been different.

Flooding along the bottom lands during 
the last 20 years prompted the Smith family 
to construct a dam in 1921. The resulting 
dam provided an ice supply during the 
winter months for local industry, as well as 
recreation for skaters. But as modern 
refrigerators replaced the need for ice, and 
artificial ice-surfaces dominated the skating 
scene, the need to keep the dam in good 
repair fell.

The plight of Smith’s dam was left 
unnoticed until Town Council took up its 
interest in the early 1970’s. Council was 
concerned that the state of the old dam 
presented a problem because it was situated 
in the heart of the community. If it ever 
collapsed many homes and businesses 
would be flooded.

It was the Upper Thames River Conserva­
tion Authority who advised the town of the 
dam’s poor condition, and reported that for 
a cost of $200,000 the dam could be rebuilt. 
The mavor of the town, Gordon Henry, 
negotiated for years with the property’s 
owner, Irene Smith. Mayor Henry offered 
Mrs. Smith the sum of $1 for the 10.5 acres of 
land surrounding the dam, which had an 
estimated value of $525,000, saying with the 
land under its control, the town would 
assume any and all liability that occurred if 
the dame ever broke. Mrs. Smith countered
the offer by requesting $160,000 for her piece 
of property. The town was not willing to 
negotiate. Council decided to send one more 
letter to the owner of Smith’s Pond, inviting 
her to give the property up or face 
expropriation. They never received an 
answer nor carried out their threat.

A swimmer in Smith Pond. In the background is 
Alexandra Hospital.

to check the pollution level of the pond. 
Evidence indicated there was little fecal 
material found, but there were traces of 
industrial pollution that could be considered 
dangerous to the town’s health. Orders were 
sent to clean up the area.

Mrs. Smith answered this order by 
accusing town maintenance men of dump­
ing garbage and fill into the pond, suggest­
ing that the town was therefore responsible 
as ‘no trespassing’ signs had been removed 
as well.

On the evening of March 5, 1975, 24 hours 
after council’s last attempt to buy the site, 
the dam gave way, flooding King Street 
businesses and swamping Memorial Park. 
Damage estimates were set between $70,000 
and $100,000 by then Police Chief Ron 
James. Lawsuits were pending.

George Beck’s wholesale tobacco ware­
house was the hardest hit by the flooding 
waters, and he consulted with the head 
office in Toronto to decide what action was
to be taken. Owners contended they were not 
responsible for the flood damage as no 
liability covers an act of either God or 
nature. Besides, high winds and heavy 
currents uprooted a support-tree, weaken­
ing the dike next to the dam.

Repairs to downtown businesses were
In what can be considerd an attempt to estimated at $150,000, yet there is little 

force the issue, a request by town officials evidence to indicate that lawsuits were 
brought the Ministry of the Environment in brought against the Smith family.
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Theatre, music and art all part of town’s heritage
BY RENE MCKNIGHT

MUSIC
Ingersoll is a community which boasts 

plenty of culture for those seeking it and has 
been that way since the 1800s. From live 
theatre to the Shakespeare Club to a crafts 
centre, it’s all available m Ingersoll.

Three music clubs have existed since the 
1800s in Ingersoll, the first being the 
Ingersoll Philharmonic Society which was 
formed in 1862 and met on a weekly basis. 
The Ingersoll Music Association was quick 
to follow, forming in the latter part of the 
same year

In 1911 the Ingersoll Music Club.was 
formed and has been meeting on a monthly 
basis since that rime. The group is mainly 
made up of singers pianists and violinists, 
who fill their nights listening to music

SHAKESPEARE CLUB
In 1905 three Ingersoll women decided to 

expand their cultural awareness. They 
decided it would be best to meet on a weekly 
basis and have readings from books which 
the members have enjoyed Miss Neeiand 
was ’he first president when the group 
began.

Ai the first meeting for the group, which 
nas a limited membership of 20. Comedy of 
Errors was chosen to be read and from then 
on it was decided only Shakespec. ~ ^a y s  
would be read

Since the formation nearly 80-years-ago, 
members have met on a regular basis with 
the exception of the years during the first 
World War. This Shakespearean club is one 
of the oldest in Canada and has enriched the 
culture of each of its members.

BOOK CLUB
In 1945 another literary club was started 

in Ingersoll, the book club. This group has 
met once a month since its formation and 
each meeting a member gives a brief 
summary on a book which has been read. 
The group also discusses current events at 
times.

CAC
In 1972 a group of artists began meeting on 

a regular basis at the town library. At the 
conclusion of each meeting all the art 

equipment had to be put away which 
resulted in club members looking for a spot 
they could meet and leave equipment out 
until they met again.

When a King Street east home was 
vacated, members of the club applied for, 
and got, use of it. That was the beginning of 
the Creative Arts Centre (CAC) in 1975.

Each year the CAC improved its program, 
and membership has continued to grow. 
There are now about 200 members.

In 1978, when the town offices wrere fnoved 
to their present location, the CAC moved in 
to the Old Town Hall where it has been ever 
since.

ITOPA
In 1977 Ingersoll experienced the re-birth 

of live theatre when ITOPA did its first 
performance 'Ready-Steady Go' in Decem­
ber of that year Prior to this Ingersoll had a 
Little Theatre group in the 1950s, but waning 
interest saw it fold.

When ITOPA began, it only held two plays

Ingerso ll was in troduced to live  theatre  in 1950 when 
Ingerso ll L it t le  Thea tre  was fo rm es  in  the  low e r le ft 
photc is a scene fro m  Ingerso ll T hea tre  of 
P e rfo rm in g  A rts ' p roduction  of 'Lad ies  in R e tire ­
m ent.' ITO PA was fo rm ed  eight-years-ago and 
re in troduced  live  th e a tre  to  the town
Squire Jam es Inge rso ll, son of the tow n 's  founder 
and the  f ir s t  w h ite  m an born in the area.

a year which ran two nights each. This year 
the group is planning to hold four plays 
which will each run seven nights.

In the beginning years of ITOPA, the 
theatre group did plenty of travelling as 
they did not have a place to work out of. The 
stages varied from schools, church base­
ments and the CAC. Sets for the plays were 
also a problem. They were built and stored 
in numerous spots such as Macnabs garage 
and Coyle and Greer Awards.

The performances, which vary from 
comedy to thrillers to musicals, have won 
several awards for the quality acting 
Ingersoll residents have given.

Culture has always been available to 
Ingersoll residents and by the look of the 
success of these clubs, it will continue to 
flourish in the future.
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Two cigar factories 

once located in Ingersoll

In the early 1900s Ingersoll had two cigar 
factories. One was operated by John Frezell 
and the other by Andrew Smith. One was 
located at the rear of the Keating Hotel, 
while the other was on Charles Street.

On October 18,1897, the Marquis of Lome, 
who was the Governor General of Canada, 
and his wife, Princess Louise, visited 
Ingersoll. They arrived by train and were 
met by a huge crowd.

In 1946, when Standard Brands of Canada 
took over ownership of Ingersoll Cheese 
Company, they introduced the town to the 
margarine producing business. At one time, 
Ingersoll was Canada’s leading exporter of 
margarine.

Ingersoll’s Upper Dam Sluice could be 
lowered or raised to keep the water in 
Carroll’s Pond at a proper level for 
powering a turbine for the woollen mills at 
the south west comer of the pond. The mill 
was a mile and a half down stream from this 
dam, and the water ran through eastern 
dykes on each side to the head of the pond.

In 1818 a grist mill was built on Mill Street, 
and the mill was driven by water power. The 
pond which supplied this power to the water 
wheel was known as Partlo’s Pond and is 
now Memorial Park.

Tennis was a popular sport at the turn of the century. The building behind the players now houses Jackie's Hair Fashions, while on the right, is Windale Feeds, at one 
time a skating arena.

Sporting activities traced to early 1900s
BY WES ROCHESTER

Since the dawn of man there has been a 
need to express a creative force between 
athletic competition. The Romans saw the 
Games as a means of releasing animal 
drives that inhibited man’s search for inner 
solitude, peace and harmony. Ingersoll’s 
athletic heritage began with a pair of shoes 
and space to manoeuver in, and has 
developed into world wide fame. Little 
remains of the road races between Wood- 
stock, Putnam and Ingersoll, but the thrill 
that sporting events such as those provided, 
is still alive and well.

The big programs in early times were 
sponsored by the Ingersoll Amateur Athletic 
Association. Lacrosse and soccer were two 
popular forms of sport, both of which 
sparked the interest in sprinting as well as 
in long distance running. Bicycle road races 
were also a big attraction. People would line 
King and Thames Streets to witness m ara­
thon races to Woodstock. In these events 
there was a strong inter-community rivalry 
between Ingersoll and Woodstock, occasion­
ally contributing to a dark horse.

Runners would work out at the race track 
at Victoria Park, the scene of soccer and 
lacrosse games. The passing of some of 
these events in town seemed to sound a 
death knell for sprinting, cycling and long 

old 10 mile record between Woodstock’s 
Graham Park and a point east of Beachville, 
by two minutes, with a time of 56.1.5, 
beating out Woodstock favorite Peter 
Isaacs. Wade went on to win again in 1910 
and 1911, which gave him permanent 
possession of the Alby Robinson trophy.

Previously, Ingersoll’s Leslie Daniel had 
won it in the first year of its competition, in 
1906, with a winning time of 59.24. In 1907 
Garnet Elliott of Ingersoll took the coveted 
trophy. Will Law of Tillsonburg won in 1908 
before the honors were Ingersoll’s to keep.

And who could forget the events surround­
ing the 1936 Olympics when Ingersoll’s own 
Betty (Elizabeth) Taylor took on the world’s 
best in the high hurdles? The photo finish 
recorded a three way tie but officials said 
that Miss Taylor would be awarded the 
bronze, third place, because her previous 
trial runs had not equalled the time on that 
historic day.

Ingersoll teams have always done well. In 
1868 the “ Ingersoll Victorias” baseball team 
won the Canadian championship. Three 
Ontario championships were won between 
1961 and 1964.

In hockey, the Ingersoll Reems were 
victorious at the OHA Junior Champion­
ships in 1955, and the Intermediate Mar­
lands reached the Ontario finals in 1960.

Softball was popular in the 1930s and 40s.

Pool was opened in the late 1950s.
Today, facilities also exist for golf, 

curling, lawn bowling and figure skating.
Individuals have also done well in the 

sports world. George Law. a welterweight 
boxer in the 1930s, was in the Olympic trials 
in 1936.

Harold Wilson, in his Miss Canada 
speedboats, won the world championship in 
the “225” class in 1934, and the President’s 
Cup in 1939. In 1949 he broke the world speed 
boat record at Picton with a speed of 142.8 
miles per hour. Although this was not 
officially recognized as a world record, it 
was established as a new North American 
record.

Noteworthy is the name of ‘Lefty’ Judd, 
whose pitching arm lead the Ingersoll team 
to the Ontario Championships for the first 
time on October 4, 1930. Mr. Judd had a 
terrific year, averaging 16 strikeouts per 
game. In 1932 he pitched for the Guelph 
seniors to the OBA championships. 1937 saw 
him turn Pro with the Chicago Cubs. Mr. 
Judd pitched eight years for the Boston Red 
Sox and the Philadelphia Phillies. In his 
career, he pitched two no-hit games. The 
first was the second game of the inter­
county finals on August 18,1929 in Galt, and 
the second was on June 14, 1948 pitching for 
Toronto of the international league in 
Syracuse, blanking the Chiefs 7-0.

NEW FROM HONDA
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Did You Know
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Train derailments part of town history
BY MIKE WALSH

When it cnmes to train derailments, 
Ingersoll has been the site of miracles. In 
the past 10 years, this town has been the site 
of two passenger train accidents. The good 
news is, no lives were taken as a result of 
them.

On May 30, 1974, a Canadian National 
(CN), passenger train westbound from 
Toronto to Windsor smashed into a CN 
freight train. More than 250 yards of track 
were ripped apart as the 22-car freight train 
and six-car Tempo train collided. A diesel 
electric locomotive, standing nearby and 
not occupied, was also struck. The accident, 
which occurred directly in front of the 
present VIA rail station, was later blamed 
on a sudden shift in the track.

Minor injuries were suffered by 61 
passengers, five crew members and three 
stewards of the passenger train. Also, two 
crew members from the freight train and 
two yard workers were injured. The most 
seriously injured was a women who was 
struck by flying debris as she was standing 
on the station’s platform.

Within 20 minutes after the accident had 
occurred, most of the passengers had been 
removed. A majority of them were taken to 
Alexandra Hospital, Ingersoll, and the more 
seriously were transported by ambulances 
to London.

The whole town offered assistance after 
the accident. The police department tightly 
secured the scene while members of the 
Public Utilities Commission, Public Works 
Department, the local St. John’s Ambulance 
and private citizens rendered their services 
in any way.

Within hours of the crash, about 100 CN 
personnel were at the site and worked 
around the clock to clean the wreckage, 
which was spread all over the station yard. 
In a few days, the lines were being used 
again by trains. Damage was estimated at

'Miss Canada" speedboats 
brought fame to town

Carriages wait for a train to arrive in the early 1900s at the CNR station

$1 million.
A year later, a Canadian Transport 

Commission investigating the accident re­
vealed “the Canadian National Railway 
(CNR) freight involved, braked on unstable 
track and 14 coaches and a caboose slewed 
off the line.” When the rails expand, the 
report said, “there is a danger of track 
distortion. The freight braked causing the 
track to shift as much as 22 inches and the 
coaches to fishtail.” It said a 500 pound 
coupling from one of the box cars had hurled 
nearly 500 yards and wheels of box cars 
were ripped off and some rails were 
snapped off.

Some of the cuts and abrasions passeng­
ers suffered resulted from the metal ceiling 
panels. It recommended railways use 
“plastic material in designing ceiling panels 
and they be securely fastened.”

August 10,1982, a VIA rail passenger train 
was enroute to Toronto from Sarnia when it 
collided head-on with a CN freight train. The 
passenger train was not on the same track 
as the CN locomotive when it left London, it 
had permission to transfer onto a westbound 
lane to avoid construction in Dorchester. 
The train was supposed to switch back to the 
right track, but never did.

Shortly after the accident, 12 ambulances 
from Kitchener, Waterloo, St. Thomas, 
Tiilsonburg, Woodstock and London were on 
the scene. Approximately 65 people were 
treated and later released from Ingersoll 
hospital. Nine people were transferred to 
London. The injuries ranged from cuts and 
abrasions to shock and sprained limbs. 
Amongst the hurt were the CN conductor 
and engineer.

Again the community came in full force to 
help with the disaster. Off duty nurses, 
doctors and police officers volunteered their 
services as well as many townspeople.

The track was reopened within 18 hours of 
the accident.

A few days after the incident, John 
Reoach, then CN’s general superintendent 
of transportation in the Great Lakes Region 
said “there was a breakdown somewhere in 
the process of issuing the orders and 
following the orders.” A month later five CN 
employees were discharged because of a 
“violation of train order requirements and 
operating rules.”

On Tuesday, February 14, 1984, a 24-car 
west bound CNR freight train derailed near 
Beachville. None of the four employees on 
the train were injured. The single vehicle 
accident, which resulted in a half a mile of 
track being ripped up, was blamed on 
erosion of a railbed.

Trains servicing town 

over 100 years

For over 100 years, Ingersoll has been 
served by railways.

The first railway to come through Oxford 
County was in 1853. The Ingersoll Great 
Western Railroad station was located on the 
west side of Thames Street and was built by 
local contractors, the Christopher Brothers.

According to the book, Ingersoll Our 
Heritage, “ From 1878 to 1881, the Credit 
Valley Railroad was extended from St. 
Thomas to Woodstock, giving Ingersoll 
connection with the Michigan Central 
Rail Road. This was secured through the 
efforts of Jam es Noxon, the president of 
Noxon Farm  Implement Mfg. This company 
used to hall the manufactured machinery by 
horses to Tiilsonburg, to be shipped via the 
Michigan Central Railroad to the United 
States.”

The CPR bought the Credit Valley 
Railroad in 1884, and tracks were laid just 
south of the Great Western Railroad, 
running parallel to it.

The Tiilsonburg Lake Erie and Pacific 
Railroad was completed from Tiilsonburg to 
Ingersoll in 1901.

BY MARJORIE FLEMING

Over the years, Ingersoll has produced 
many fine athletes and sportsmen. The 
passing of those years have dulled a few 
memories of Ingersoll’s finest but when files 
are searched and memories jogged, a flood 
of information and verbal reminiscing 
Surfaces.

“I remember when” and “ I’ll never 
forget” bring back the heroes of yesteryear 
and provide us with a glimpse of those who 
earned themselves a place in sports history.

Harold Wilson of Ingersoll is one sports­
man who will not soon be forgotten. His 

President’s Cup in 1939, with Miss Canada. 
It was the first time in the history of U.S. 
boat racing that the Cup was captured by a 
foreigner, and Wilson was personally pre­
sented the Cup by President Roosevelt at the 
White House.

At the president’s concent, Wilson was 
allowed to bring the Cup to Canada for one 
year. It was the first time the Cup had ever 
left U.S. soil.

World War II interrupted most sporting 
events, so it was 1945 before the Wilsons 
were really back into boat racing full steam. 
Rumours abounded that the Wilsons might 
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